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Preface

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in 
accordance with the Financial Administration 
Act and the Government Accountability Act. The 
Public Accounts consist of the annual report of the 
Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each 
of the 24 Ministries.

The annual report of the Government of Alberta 
released June 26, 2006 contains the Minister of 
Finance’s accountability statement, the consolidated 
financial statements of the province and a comparison 
of the actual performance to desired results set out in 
the government’s business plan, including the Measuring 
Up report.

This annual report of the Ministry of Innovation and 
Science contains the Minister’s accountability statement, 
the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Ministry and a comparison of actual performance to 
desired results set out in the Ministry business plan. 
This Ministry annual report also includes:

• The financial statements of entities making up the 
Ministry including the Department of Innovation 
and Science and provincial agencies for which the 
Minister is responsible.

• Other financial information as required by the 
Financial Administration Act and Government 
Accountability Act, either as separate reports or as a 
part of the financial statements, to the extent that the 
Ministry has anything to report.

Public Accounts 2005–06
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Minister’s Accountability Statement

The Ministry’s Annual Report for the year ended 
March 31, 2006, was prepared under my direction in 
accordance with the Government Accountability Act 
and the government’s accounting policies. All of the 
government’s policy decisions as at September 1, 2006 
with material economic or fiscal implications of which 
I am aware have been considered in the preparation of 
this report.

George VanderBurg 
Acting Minister of Innovation and Science

[Original Signed]
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Message from the Minister

Alberta’s strong economic growth creates high 
demand for new products and services to respond 
to development and market opportunities — a 
demand for innovation. The Government of Alberta 
recognizes that innovation depends on several 
critical inputs, and it is this Ministry’s job to ensure 
some of those inputs are provided.

In the past year, with the support and advice of the 
Alberta Science and Research Authority, Ministry 
staff engaged in key activities to support research, 
encourage investment and attract the people 
needed to build a diverse and globally-competitive 
economy. Specifically, the Ministry has:

• Created two new research institutes, the 
Alberta Life Sciences Institute and the 
Alberta Information and Communications 
Technology Institute.

• Focused resources in areas of economic 
opportunity, including clean coal technology, 
carbon dioxide capture and storage, hydrocarbon 
and bitumen upgrading, bio-energy, information 
and communications technology, agri-foods and 
bioproducts.

• Built valuable research partnerships and 
networks with private companies, such as IBM, 
Hewlett-Packard, Varian Inc., Roche Molecular 
Diagnostics and Roche Pharmaceuticals, and 
organizations in other countries, including 
Finland, Korea and China, to enhance research 
and commercialization.

• Raised Alberta’s profile in the province’s priority 
sectors: energy, information and communications 
technology and life sciences; through Innovation 
and Investment Week, the Alberta Science and 
Technology Leadership Foundation Awards, 
participation in the world’s largest biotech 
conference in Philadelphia, and missions to 
California and China.

• Attracted and retained highly-qualified people 
through iCORE, Alberta Ingenuity and the 
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical 
Research. iCORE established three new industry 
chairs and research clusters this year. 

• The Ministry’s research capacity-building 
programs provided 23 projects with $3.4 million.

These activities, and the many more outlined in 
this report, put Alberta in a better position to 
unleash innovation, which is a key pillar of the 
government’s plan to maximize the province’s 
potential in the global economy. This means 
that our researchers, academic institutions and 
businesses are able to pursue innovations that will 
increase Alberta’s prosperity, improve our quality 
of life and guide sustainable development for 
the future.

The government’s commitment and its actions to 
achieve these goals are reinforced by the many 
institutions and industry partners that support 
critical activities. To them, and the staff of Alberta 
Innovation and Science, I extend my thanks and 
congratulations.

George VanderBurg 
Acting Minister of Innovation and Science

[Original Signed]
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting

The Ministry of Innovation and Science includes:

• Department of Innovation and Science

•   Alberta Science and Research Authority

• Alberta Research Council Inc.

• iCORE Inc.

The executives of the individual entities within 
the Ministry have the primary responsibility 
and accountability for the respective entities. 
Collectively, the executives ensure the Ministry 
complies with all relevant legislation, regulations 
and policies.

Ministry business plans, annual reports, 
performance results and the supporting 
management information are integral to the 
government’s fiscal and business plans, annual 
reports, quarterly reports and other financial and 
performance reporting.

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity 
of the consolidated financial statements and 
performance results for the Ministry rests with 
the Minister of Innovation and Science. Under the 
direction of the Minister, I oversee the preparation 
of the Ministry’s annual report, including 
consolidated financial statements and performance 
results. The consolidated financial statements 
and the performance results, of necessity, include 
amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the government’s stated 
accounting policies.

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program 
responsibilities, I establish and maintain the 
Ministry’s financial administration and reporting 
functions. The Ministry maintains systems of 
financial management and internal control, which 
give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that 
are designed to:

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are properly authorized, executed in accordance 
with prescribed legislation and regulations, 
and properly recorded so as to maintain 
accountability of public money.

• Provide information to manage and report 
on performance.

• Safeguard the assets and properties of the 
province under Ministry administration.

• Provide Executive Council, Treasury Board, 
the Minister of Finance and the Minister of 
Innovation and Science any information needed 
to fulfill their responsibilities.

• Facilitate preparation of Ministry business 
plans and annual reports required under the 
Government Accountability Act.

In fulfilling my responsibilities for the Ministry, I 
have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the 
individual entities within the Ministry.

Bob Fessenden 
Deputy Minister 
September 1, 2006

[Original Signed]
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Overview

Vision
Alberta prospers through innovation.

Core Business
The Ministry 2005–08 business plan lists one core 
business — innovation.

Ministry activities contribute to “Unleashing 
Innovation”, a key area of opportunity identified in 
Today’s Opportunities, Tomorrow’s Promise, the 
government’s 20-year strategic plan.

Activities in 2005–06 helped the Government of 
Alberta meet its goals and targets for:

• Accelerating innovation in Alberta, with 
emphasis on increasing commercialization of 
research, and industry growth.

• Building the capability and capacity of the 
research system.

• Building research excellence in the priority areas 
of energy, information and communications 
technology (ICT) and life sciences.

• Encouraging and supporting innovation within 
the Government of Alberta.

Key Accomplishments in 2005–06
The Minister of Innovation and Science is responsible 
for the administration of legislation relating to the 
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research 
(AHFMR) and the Alberta Heritage Foundation 
for Science and Engineering Research (operating 
under the trade name Alberta Ingenuity). The key 
accomplishments of these foundations are included 
in the section of this report titled “Information on 
Alberta Heritage Foundations.”

• The Ministry received a one-time budget 
allocation of $30.0 million to extend AVAC 
Ltd. services to the key growth sectors of ICT, 
life sciences and industrial technology. These 
services will increase the rate of technology 
adoption in these sectors and contribute to the 
growth and success of Alberta’s high-technology 
industries. The prime role of AVAC Ltd. is to help 
access investment capital for value-added ideas 
and innovations.

• Innovation and Science supported activities 
during Innovation and Investment Week to spur 
investment in Alberta innovations. Activities 
included a private equity event for potential 
investors, the largest-ever Banff Venture Forum, 
the first Alberta Life Technologies investor forum, 
and a Western Canada Angel Presidents’ Forum.

• Fourteen Government of Alberta departments 
and organizations were awarded Innovation 
and Service Excellence Program funding support 
totaling close to $32.0 million over a three-year 
term to undertake 35 projects that will enhance 
service delivery to Albertans or accelerate the 
application of innovation in Alberta. During the 
2005-06 fiscal year, $5.1 million was allocated 
to recipients. 
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• Innovation and Science built research 
partnerships and networks with private 
companies such as IBM, Hewlett-Packard, Varian 
Inc., Roche Molecular Diagnostics and Roche 
Pharmaceuticals, and organizations in other 
countries including Finland, Korea and China, to 
enhance research and commercialization.

• The Ministry provided over $3.4 million to 
23 research projects across the province through 
the Small Equipment Grants Program reported 
under the auspices of the Alberta Science and 
Research Investments Program. Projects included 
a state-of-the-art laboratory for research to 
improve detection of atmospheric pollutants, 
a three-dimensional virtual reality surgical 
planning system for treating lung cancer and 
equipment to assist plant pathology researchers 
understand disease in canola.

• The Alberta Energy Research Institute (AERI) 
worked with seven industry partners to promote 
a Hydrocarbon Upgrading Demonstration and 
Training Facility, which will lead to innovations 
in upgrading bitumen to high-value oil, refined 
products and chemicals.

• The Alberta Research Council Inc. (ARC), 
AERI and several industry partners funded the 
$1.2 million Optimization of Enhanced Gas 
Recovery project to research and develop a 
technique for recovering gas from the province’s 
mature, deep gas pools that cannot be recovered 
using current methods.

• AERI also examined the development of 
alternate energy sources, specifically the use 
of geothermal heat in the production of oil 
sands and the generation of electricity from 
municipal waste.

• The Ministry provided $1.2 million to the 
University of Lethbridge for the Alberta 
Terrestrial Imaging Centre. This centre is 
North America’s primary receiving and 
distribution station for images taken with 
SPOT satellite technology.

• iCORE established three industry chairs: 
multimedia, computer process control, and 
quantum cryptography and communication 
research. It also created three new areas of 
research focus: wireless networks, intelligent 
software systems and new architectures including 
nanotechnology and quantum computing.

• The Alberta Agricultural Research Institute 
(AARI) provided funding for the newly 
established Oil and Lipids Centre at the 
University of Alberta which helped to attract 
significant investment from industry and the 
federal government to this initiative. The world’s 
largest team of lipid utilization scientists will 
work in state-of-the-art facilities to develop new 
food uses (e.g. low trans-fat foods) for oilseed 
crops like canola and flax as well as non-food 
uses such as bio-lubricants, bio-hydraulics, 
specialty chemicals and bio-plastics.

• AARI along with the Alberta Livestock Industry 
Development Fund and industry partners 
established a Livestock Genomics Program to 
improve market value for products, reduce costs, 
solve health issues and improve product tracing 
in the livestock industry.
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Highlights
Performance Measures
• Investments by the Government of Alberta 

(GOA) to support innovation totalled  
$389.9 million and amounted to 1.6 per cent 
of total expenditures. Expenditures on activities 
supporting innovation are increasing. These 
investments in research, development and 
innovation are important components that 
support the overall strategies of the provincial 
government. The growth of investments 
in innovation demonstrates government’s 
commitment to achieve long-term prosperity.

• Alberta’s research system remains strong as 
demonstrated by the level of sponsored research 
revenue at Alberta universities — $650.5 
million, exceeding the target of $606.0 million. 
The increase is, in part, attributable to capital 
investments by the Government of Alberta 
in large-scale research facilities at Alberta 
universities. Sponsored research funding has 
nearly doubled since 2000–01, reflecting 
Alberta’s success in garnering research awards 
and new investments.

• The Alberta Energy Research Institute was 
instrumental in establishing the Energy 
Innovation Network (EnergyINet) as a national 
entity in 2005. EnergyINet now includes 
19 organizations exceeding the target of 10 
organizations for 2005–06. This is due to the 
high interest in this initiative shown by the 
private sector, Alberta government departments 
and other levels of government across Canada. 
In addition, some companies from outside of the 
energy sector have also joined EnergyINet.

• iCORE Inc. exceeded its target for 23 active 
research chairs by one, as chair renewals for 
the past year were higher than expected. There 
were 105 new awards to graduate students in 
2005–06 (target was 80) and 263 active graduate 
students attracted to and retained in Alberta by 
iCORE support (target was 200).

Financial Performance
Spending was within approved targets and directed 
to the Ministry’s core business. Expenses for the 
Ministry totalled $199.1 million for 2005–06. 
Significant programs within Innovation and 
Science included:

• $61.4 million for Alberta Research Council Inc.

• $30.0 million for a one-time budget allocation 
to extend AVAC Ltd. services to the key 
growth sectors of ICT, life sciences and 
industrial technology.

• $32.0 million for the Alberta Science and 
Research Investment Program as well as 
Science Awareness.

• $15.4 million for life sciences research.

• $14.3 million for energy research.

• $11.3 million for iCORE Inc. to build research 
capability in ICT.

• $5.1 million for the Innovation and Service 
Excellence Program to encourage innovation 
within the Government of Alberta.

• $4.9 million to facilitate technology 
commercialization.

• $4.3 million to facilitate emerging opportunities.

• $3.8 million to facilitate information and 
communications technology research.

Equipment and Inventory Purchases for the 
Ministry totalled $8.1 million for 2005–06, 
including $1 million for the Innovation and Service 
Excellence Program and $6.7 million for ARC for 
research equipment and construction.
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Summary of Key Activities in the 
Past Year

Goal 1: Accelerate Innovation
Investments in research lead to innovative ideas, 
products and processes that, if commercialized 
in Alberta, have the potential to yield significant 
economic and social benefits for the province.

Generating Innovation
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Supported a Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) between The Banff Centre and 
Cyberport of Hong Kong. The MOU will foster 
collaboration within the digital media sector 
between small and medium-sized enterprises in 
Hong Kong and Alberta in the areas of research 
and development, scientific and professional 
exchange, education and training, and 
partnerships.

• Launched the E-Health Industry Project at the 
Foothills Hospital (University of Calgary) under 
the Western Economic Partnership Agreement 
(WEPA). In this project, companies, researchers 
and health practitioners will help to identify, 
develop and test new e-health products and 
services. The Ministry and WEPA funds will 
support a service component of this project, 
which includes showcasing the physical space, 
video conferencing facilities, and research and 
development test-bed incubator space.

• Developed a joint project for the Calgary/Oulu 
Corporate Health and Wellness Project under 
an existing MOU with Finland to assess the 
effectiveness of using monitors to raise the 
fitness performance of corporate employees. 
The project grew out of a mission to the United 
Kingdom, Sweden and Finland by the Ministry, 
Foothills Hospital and Dynastream Innovations 
Inc. A Finnish proposal for joint research on 
wireless hospital interoperability standards will 
also be explored.

• Facilitated an agreement between TRLabs and 
South Korea’s iPark Silicon Valley that will 
allow Korean companies to use TRLabs and 
SuperNet infrastructure to incubate and pilot 
new technologies.

• Held the first Technology Forum focused on life 
sciences, ICT and advanced materials between 
Alberta, the Korean Ministry of Science and 
Technology and the Province of Gangwon, in 
Gangwon-do, Korea. The forum flowed from 
a letter of intent on research and development 
cooperation between the Ministry and the 
Department of Industry and Economy of the 
Province of Gangwon, Korea.

• Awarded Innovation and Service Excellence 
Program funding of nearly $32.0 million to 
14 Government of Alberta departments and 
organizations. The funding supported 35 projects 
that identified, developed or implemented 
innovations to improve service delivery to 
Albertans or accelerated the use of innovations in 
the province.

Promoting Commercialization
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Supported a number of Alberta Innovation and 
Investment Week activities:

o Sponsored the largest-ever Banff Venture 
Forum attended by 280 local and 
international investors, presenting companies 
and government officials. The forum 
showcased 25 exceptional western Canadian 
high-tech companies, examined key issues 
in the industry and provided a premium 
networking opportunity.

o Sponsored the first Alberta Life Technologies 
Investor Forum showcasing Alberta’s 
biotechnology and medical-device investment 
opportunities. Ninety local and international 
venture capital and angel investors, 
government officials and executives from 
Alberta’s life sciences companies attended.
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o Hosted a private equity event that looked 
at the various vehicles available for private 
equity investment in Alberta and how the 
government can influence the private equity 
environment. Seventy-five people attended 
including investors from the United States 
and Alberta.

o Sponsored a Western Canada Angel 
Presidents’ Forum to build relationships 
between western angel investor organizations 
and to discuss best practices in running a 
successful angel group. Panel discussions 
covered a variety of topics including current 
trends in angel investing, introductions to 
angel organizations, due diligence, valuations 
and syndication.

• Received a one-time budget allocation of  
$30.0 million to extend AVAC Ltd. services 
to the key growth sectors of ICT, life sciences 
and industrial technology. This will allow new 
businesses in these sectors to access AVAC’s 
managerial and financial assistance services, 
increase their rate of technology adoption, and 
contribute to the growth and success of Alberta’s 
high-technology industries.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Worked with 780 customers and partners, 
and managed 121 active licensing agreements 
during the fiscal year 2005–06. Over 40 Alberta 
companies grew their businesses using technology 
developed in collaboration with ARC.

• Received $2.4 million in royalties, licensing 
fees and product sales from the deployment of 
technology. During the last seven years, ARC 
generated more than $22.0 million in royalties, 
licensing fees and product sales.

• Maintained an intellectual asset portfolio 
consisting of 102 technologies that were protected 
by patent families. In addition, ARC managed 
32 technologies on behalf of the Alberta 
Energy Research Institute and 15 for C-FER 
Technologies. ARC was granted 10 patents.

• Incorporated Innoventures Canada (I-CAN), 
along with the Centre de Recherche Industrielle 
du Québec, the Manitoba Industrial Technology 
Centre and the Saskatchewan Research 
Council. I-CAN provided facilities and expertise 
for prototyping, product development and 
commercialization to help improve the innovative 
performance of Canadian companies, especially 
small and medium-sized enterprises.

Did you know ... the province of Alberta has been twinned with the 
Chinese province of Heilongjiang for 25 years?

http://www.iir.gov.ab.ca/international_relations/documents/Heilongjiang-2005.pdf 
http://www.gov.ab.ca/acn/200601/19289D3FF04BB-F5D9-8F2C-5865343AAE70F1FB.html

This long-standing relationship has proved valuable for many 

municipalities and sectors within Alberta. In January 2006, the launch of 

the new Alberta-Heilongjiang, Harbin Institute of Technology Research 

Innovation Centre marked the latest Alberta-Chinese collaborative 

initiative in the ICT sector.  
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Goal 2: Build research capacity in areas 
of strategic priority
Basic research, ideas and highly-qualified people 
are the foundation of the innovation system. Strong 
research capability at Alberta’s universities, colleges 
and technical institutes is a critical building block 
for the future.

Research Capability and Capacity
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Directed over $3.4 million to 23 research 
initiatives across the province through the Small 
Equipment Grants Program. Projects included:

o A state-of-the-art laboratory for research at 
the University of Lethbridge with equipment 
to improve the detection of atmospheric 
pollutants such as leaks in transmission and 
distribution pipelines.

o A three-dimensional virtual reality surgical 
planning system for treating lung cancer at 
the University of Calgary. The system has the 
potential to be a platform for other surgical 
procedures and training such as minimally 
invasive robotics-assisted surgery.

o Equipment to help plant-pathology 
researchers at the University of Alberta 
increase our understanding of how plant 
pathogens cause disease in plants, with a 
specific focus on improving disease resistance 
in canola.

• Committed $3.3 million over five years to the 
Banff International Research Station in support 
of internationally recognized research programs 
spanning pure, applied, computational and 
industrial mathematics, statistics and computer 
science. More than 4,000 mathematicians and 
scientists from 49 countries have participated in 
workshops at the research station.

• Received a total of 57 submissions from six  
post-secondary institutions for the 2005–06 
Alberta Science and Research Investments 
Program. This program funds state-of-the-art 
equipment for multi-disciplinary research in 
areas of strategic priority to Alberta: energy, ICT 
and life sciences.

Did you know … Alberta has Canada’s most powerful MRI scanner 
for humans?

http://www.ahfmr.ab.ca/publications/newsletter/Spring02/spring.02/inside/brain.htm

Researchers at the University of Alberta are developing a better 

understanding of how some neurological and psychiatric disorders 

affect the brain thanks to the enhanced images produced by the  

nation’s most powerful magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) 

human scanner — a 4.7 Tesla. Dr. Christian Beaulieu is using this 

understanding to develop better detection and treatment strategies for 

stroke patients; Dr. Alan Wilman is studying the imaging benefits for 

Parkinson’s disease and depression.  
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Science Awareness
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Hosted the 5th annual Science and Technology 
Week, with the theme Imagine Your Future. With 
a goal of encouraging Alberta youth to consider 
careers in science and technology, activities 
included online games and information on 
research projects, careers and events happening 
across the province.

• Supported several science awareness and 
promotional programs including the Science 
Alberta Foundation, the Alberta Science Literacy 
Association and SCIberMENTOR.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Donated a collection of 6,500 insects to Olds 
College to help educate students working on 
pest control.

Goal 3: Accelerate innovation in the 
energy sector
Energy, directly or indirectly, accounts for about 
half of Alberta’s economy and contributes to more 
than 25 per cent of the revenue of the Government 
of Alberta. The Alberta Energy Innovation Strategy 
aims to increase the value realized from the 
province’s energy resources, improve environmental 
performance and build a strong economy-now and 
in the future.

EnergyINet
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Incorporated with the help of its partners, 
EnergyINet as a not-for-profit corporation 
under the Canada Corporations Act, Part 2 
on August 5, 2005. It now operates as a fully 
independent company with its own board of 
directors and is establishing itself as a  
nation-wide vehicle for collaborative research.

Carbon Dioxide (CO2) Management
Alberta Energy Research Institute:

• Worked with EnergyINet to support the 
Western Canadian Fuel Cell Initiative, which 
will investigate, evaluate and develop impure 
hydrogen fuel cell technology and establish a 
CO2 management program. Research activities 
focused on the geological sequestration of CO2 
and included measurement, monitoring and 
verification of CO2 storage in a CO2 enhanced 
recovery pilot project.

Clean Coal/Carbon
Alberta Energy Research Institute:

• Based on identified technical and economic 
gaps, the institute funded 10 multi-year 
projects leading to the adaptation of clean 
coal technology for Alberta’s needs. This work 
involved collaboration between the University of 
Alberta, the federal government, the major coal 
and electricity companies in Canada, EnergyINet 
and the Electric Power Research Institute in the 
United States. The institute also participated in 
the development of Canada’s Coal Technology 
Roadmap and the related CO2 Capture and 
Storage Roadmap.

Bitumen Upgrading
Alberta Energy Research Institute:

• Worked with seven industrial partners 
to promote a Hydrocarbon Upgrading 
Demonstration and Training Facility. Studies 
are underway to assess technologies with 
breakthrough potential for upgrading bitumen to 
higher value synthetic oil and refined products.
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• Continued collaboration with Nova Chemicals, 
the University of Calgary and universities in 
Germany and China on the conversion of oil 
sands-derived heavy oils for petrochemical 
production. In previous work, researchers 
developed a new family of catalysts for the heavy 
oil-cracking technology. In the current phase, 
researchers will design a pilot plant and process 
to be integrated into the Hydrocarbon Upgrading 
Demonstration and Training Facility.

• Provided support for the University of 
Alberta’s Oil Sands Engineering Research 
Chair leveraging funding with industry, the 
federal government and the university. The 
program will enhance industry’s ability to 
meet the challenges associated with today’s 
mined oil sands technologies as well as explore 
technologies to reduce fresh-water use and 
manage oil sands tailings.

• Continued support for the National Centre for 
Upgrading Technology which the Government 
of Alberta and Natural Resources Canada 
jointly fund to develop and maintain a  
world-class centre of excellence for bitumen 
upgrading in Alberta.

• Continued to partner with ARC and 
twelve energy companies in the AERI/ARC Core 
Industry program to develop and improve heavy 
oil and bitumen recovery technologies.

Alternate and Renewable Energy
Alberta Energy Research Institute:

• With its partners, completed a feasibility 
study and bench-scale testing on the use of 
municipal waste to generate electricity at the 
Edmonton landfill.

• Provided technical analysis of project 
applications submitted to the Alberta 
Department of Energy’s Innovative Energy 
Technologies Program. The Department of 
Energy announced funding for 13 innovative 
projects in November 2005.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Continued pioneering early stage research 
into a new process for increasing natural gas 
production. The research is looking at using 
micro-organisms to enhance coal bed methane 
production and the regeneration of coal-stored 
CO2 into methane.

Did you know … Alberta has Canada’s only 200 kW commercially 
operated high-voltage fuel cell?

http://www.nait.ca/fuelcell/what.htm

Located within the Northern Alberta Institute of Technology, this 

self-contained energy system generates both electricity and heat 

— electricity to supplement the Institute’s power needs and heat for 

the Institute’s boilers and recreation facilities. A fuel cell is an emerging 

source of alternate energy that produces clean and quiet heat and 

power. A high-voltage fuel cell has never before been used as a primary 

energy source. 
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Goal 4: Accelerate innovation in the 
information and communications 
technology sector
Information and communications technology (ICT) 
is vital to Alberta’s economic future and will play 
a key role in improving all sectors of the Alberta 
economy. Attracting a critical mass of outstanding 
researchers and students in related disciplines 
strengthens Alberta’s ICT sector.

Encouraging Innovation
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Established the Alberta ICT Institute (AICTI) 
to provide strategic advice and leadership to 
accelerate the growth and prosperity of the 
province’s ICT sector and related activities.

• Established and opened the Alberta-
Heilongjiang, Harbin Institute of Technology 
Research Innovation Centre in Harbin, China. 
The centre will be focused on data technology 
and knowledge development.

• Helped establish and fund the University of 
Alberta’s Joint Research Labs project with the 
China Ministry of Science and Technology, which 
will focus on nanotechnology, environment and 
energy research.

• Provided $1.2 million to the University of 
Lethbridge for the Alberta Terrestrial Imaging 
Centre. This centre is North America’s primary 
receiving and distribution station for images 
taken with SPOT satellite technology-images 
that improve the information available for 
decisions related to emergency response, pipeline 
monitoring, pine beetle containment and 
watershed research.

iCORE Inc.:

• Funded a new Institute for Biocomplexity and 
Informatics at the University of Calgary that will 
focus on new ways to treat cancer. The institute 
will use computing resources to test theories on 
cell growth, division and differentiation.

Did you know … Alberta may soon be able to use carbon dioxide to 
simultaneously reduce global warming and increase oil production?

http://www.aeri.ab.ca/index.cfm 
http:pennwest.com/operations/crude_pembina.html

The PennWest enhanced oil recovery pilot project in central Alberta is 

testing new technologies for the underground storage of carbon dioxide 

produced from large industrial plants. The capture and storage of 

carbon dioxide may lead to lower greenhouse gas levels and may also 

make it easier to extract more oil and gas from underground reservoirs, 

helping to sustain fossil fuels for the long-term.  
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Technology Development and 
Commercialization
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Established a partnership agreement with 
Hewlett Packard, all Alberta universities and 
The Banff Centre on collaborative research. Over 
the past year, a number of research initiatives 
developed from this agreement including:

o Establishment of a high-performance 
computing data centre and research program 
at the University of Calgary. The Department 
of Innovation and Science will provide the 
university with up to $1.4 million of the 
estimated $6.0 million in costs.

o Establishment of a research project to 
develop new nanosensors for medical and 
environmental detection applications at the 
National Institute for Nanotechnology. The 
estimated value of the research project is 
$1.7 million. The Department of Innovation 
and Science will provide $685,000 for 
development costs.

o Establishment of a tele-immersion research 
project to develop the next generation of 
3D video conferencing technology by the 
University of Alberta. This technology could 
eventually be used to enhance the quality 
of research and educational collaboration 
throughout Alberta using SuperNet and 
other networks. The estimated value of the 
research project is $693,000. The Department 
of Innovation and Science will provide 
$155,000 to the university for equipment and 
development costs.

iCORE Inc.:

• Established research focus areas in wireless 
networks, intelligent software systems and new 
architectures (e.g. nanotechnology and quantum 
computing). Potential topics are emerging in 
bioinformatics and human-machine interfaces.

• Initiated a comprehensive ICT study to survey 
the ICT market needs of the primary economic 
sectors in Alberta (energy, agriculture, forestry, 
health, education and telecommunications).

Business Growth and Investment Attraction
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Established a research agreement between IBM, 
the University of Alberta and the department 
to initiate the first research project at the newly 
established Alberta IBM Center for Advanced 
Studies. The Services Science Research Program 
Launch Project will focus on areas where the 
Alberta information technology industry can be 
competitive in global markets. The Department 
of Innovation and Science will provide $32,000 
of the estimated $70,000 project costs to 
the university.

iCORE Inc.:

• Initiated ongoing discussions with Alberta 
Ingenuity, the Department of Innovation and 
Science and other ICT-related organizations 
such as TRLabs and Netera to ensure 
collaboration and communication on strategic 
investments in Alberta’s ICT research and 
development capability.

High Quality People
iCORE Inc.:

• Established three new awards and renewed 
six awards for a total of 24 active research 
chairs, professors and industry chairs to 
support strategic areas. The three new awards 
(multimedia, computer process control, and 
quantum cryptography and communication 
research) involve industry partners-Suncor, 
Matrikon, Castlerock Research and General 
Dynamics. iCORE now has nine industry chairs 
in addition to 15 research chairs and professors.
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Goal 5: Accelerate innovation in the life 
sciences sector
Alberta is focusing on new initiatives in 
bioproducts, health innovation, platform 
technologies, sustainable production and 
environmental technologies to support and 
augment the agriculture, energy, environment, 
forestry and health sectors of the economy, 
improve all Albertan’s quality of life and build a 
sustainable future.

Bioproducts Research
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Established the Alberta Life Sciences Institute to 
provide leadership on research and technology 
commercialization in health, agriculture, forestry, 
water and the environment.

• Agreed to fund phase II of the Magnetic 
Resonance Diagnostic Center at the University 
of Alberta, jointly with Varian Inc. and the 
University of Alberta, and to support the 
commercialization of new diagnostic tests. The 
Department of Innovation and Science will 
provide $400,000 of the estimated $1.5 million 
project costs.

• Established the Alberta Transplant Institute 
Applied Genomics Center at the University of 
Alberta, along with Roche Molecular Systems 
Inc. The multi-million dollar project will support 
the commercialization of new diagnostic tests for 
transplant patient-monitoring being developed by 
the Genome Canada Transplant Transcriptome 
project at the university.

• Established Genome Alberta, with the support 
of the Alberta Science and Research Authority 
(ASRA), to lead Alberta’s efforts in genomics 
research and innovation. The department 
awarded $4.0 million to six successful Genome 
Canada Competition III projects.

• Provided funding to the Alberta Synchrotron 
Institute to secure synchrotron access for 
Alberta’s protein researchers until relevant 
beam-lines at the Canadian Light Source are 
operational in 2008.

• Provided support to BioProducts Alberta 
through the joint federal and provincial Western 
Economic Partnership Agreement. BioProducts 
Alberta is a new non-profit corporation that 
facilitates and promotes bioproducts research, 
technology commercialization and industry 
development.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Hosted a workshop on Critical Issues in 
Bioproducts Development for participants from 
Alberta, Saskatchewan and Ontario in February 
2006. Alberta Economic Development, the 
Alberta Forestry Research Institute, Alberta 
Sustainable Resource Development and Alberta 
Research Council collaborated on the event, 
which resulted in a shared knowledge base and 
understanding of what is required to foster 
the growth and development of Alberta’s 
bioproducts industry.

• Focused the research and development 
capacity of its expanded Nutraceutical and 
Pharmaceutical Services unit on the development 
and growth of emerging life sciences companies. 
The unit will support process development 
and the production of bio-based products for 
companies for non-regulated uses such as soil 
inoculants and enzymes.

• Teamed up with Natural Resources Canada 
to create an online Biofuels Quality Registry. 
Biodiesel producers and users will be able to 
register on the ARC-hosted website and have 
their products tested for quality. The results 
will be entered into an accessible database and 
will contribute to development of an industry 
standard for biofuel analysis.
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Water Management
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Developed a water research strategy through 
the Alberta Science and Research Authority, in 
cooperation with the Alberta Water Council. 
The strategy will support the development of 
innovations that will help to implement the 
government’s Water for Life strategy.

Agricultural Research
Department of Innovation and Science:

• Established the Livestock Genomics Program 
with funding from key industry partners: the 
Alberta Livestock Industry Development Fund 
and the Alberta Agricultural Research Institute. 
The program, which will be conducted through 
the Institute for Food and Agricultural Sciences 
Alberta (IFASA), will focus on finding genomic 
solutions to:

o Increase the market value of meats and 
ingredients derived from meats.

o Reduce the cost of production of beef cattle.

o Address animal health issues in diagnostics, 
prevention and treatment.

o Develop cheap and effective tools to trace 
both live animals and cuts of meat from farm 
to market.

Alberta Agricultural Research Institute:

• Invested in the Oil and Lipids Centre at the 
University of Alberta that was established in 
collaboration with Bunge Oils, Agriculture 
and Agri-Food Canada and the Alberta Crop 
Industry Development Fund. This $6.25 million 
research program that will be conducted through 
IFASA will house the world’s largest team of 
lipid utilization scientists in state-of-the-art 
laboratories and will revolutionize the use of 
oilseed crops and animal fats.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Released six new varieties of native plant 
species suitable for reclaiming industrially 
disturbed lands in Alberta’s Parkland region. 
These grasses and legumes show superior 
performance in the sandy soils common to that 
eco-region. ARC is one of the few Canadian 
organizations developing plant species for the 
reclamation industry.

• Led the Integrated Manure Utilization 
System (IMUS) research team that received 
the Outstanding Achievement in Applied 
Technology and Innovation Award at the 2005 
Alberta Science and Technology Leadership 
Foundation Awards gala. ARC’s industry 
partner, Highmark Renewables, received 
the 2005 Emerald Award for environmental 
stewardship in the small business category for 
the IMUS project. The IMUS partners also 
received the 2005 Growing Alberta Award for 
environmental stewardship.

Did you know ... about precision ranching?

 http://www.innovation.gov.ab.ca/inv/sec/ursi/res_rep/doc/ASRIP_05_Annual%20Report.pdf (page 11)

Strategies to maintain healthy pastureland for cattle grazing is the aim 

of research into ‘precision ranching’. Dr. Mick Price and his University of 

Alberta research team have created a three-dimensional digital model 

of the university’s ranch in east-central Alberta, mapping out every 

feature from the grass roots to the trees to the cattle. Dr. Price says 

“We’re trying to use modern electronic communications technology to 

ensure the right animal is in the right place at the right time.” 
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Forestry Research
Alberta Forestry Research Institute:

• Developed a strategic business plan for  
2006–11 and focused on sustainable forest 
management, value chain enhancement and new 
products. The next fiscal year will see further 
consultation with industry and other partners.

• Initiated, together with the Alberta Agricultural 
Research Institute and the Alberta Energy 
Research Institute, a WEPA project to evaluate 
existing technologies for biomass combined 
heat and power generation. The partners 
will select a technology bundle for a small to 
medium scale demonstration project that will 
lay the groundwork for a full-scale commercial 
demonstration.

Alberta Research Council Inc.:

• Continued to work with industry and 
government on the Alberta Biodiversity 
Monitoring Program. ARC is collaborating 
with the University of Alberta to test and refine 
the design of protocols, develop products and 
services that will aid land managers, and build 
further support from government, industry and 
non-government organizations.

Legislative and Policy Changes
Introduced the Alberta Science and Research 
Authority Amendment Act, 2005 to establish the 
Alberta Life Sciences Institute and the Alberta ICT 
Institute. The Act came into force on December 
1, 2005 and is now incorporated into the Alberta 
Science and Research Authority Act.

Cross-Ministry Initiatives
Through cross-ministry initiatives, the Ministry of 
Innovation and Science worked with other 
ministries to ensure that programs and services 
aligned with the government’s agenda and met 
the priority needs of Albertans, without overlap 
or duplication. In 2005–06, Ministry activities 
supported key objectives in a number of  
cross-ministry initiatives:

Leading in Learning and Skilled 
Workforce Initiative
• Participated in initiatives to attract and retain 

highly skilled workers and encourage Alberta 
organizations to adopt the innovative technology 
and business practices that will help them to 
commercialize new technology and compete in 
the world economy.

Did you know...the same technology used to save trees,  
can save lives?

http://www.innovation.gov.ab.ca/inv/sec/ursi/res_rep/doc/ASRIP_05_Annual%20Report.pdf (page 16) 

Using geomatics, Dr. Naser El-Sheimy, from the University of Calgary, 

has developed a real-time mapping system allowing firefighters to 

better detect and contain forest fires. This same navigation sensor 

technology is now being combined with wireless communications 

potentially allowing 911 emergency calls from a cell phone to be 

geographically located anywhere on the globe.
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Economic Development and 
Innovation Strategy
• Championed the strategy with Economic 

Development, Agriculture, Food and Rural 
Development and other departments to 
encourage collaboration between businesses, 
communities, public institutions, stakeholders 
and other levels of government to promote 
economic development and innovation.

Other Cross Ministry Activities
• Participated in ICT and Life Sciences 

Sector Team initiatives and Trade Team 
Alberta, working with regional economic 
development agencies and other organizations 
on collaborative projects and networking to 
support emerging industries.

• Worked with Economic Development, 
International and Intergovernmental Relations 
and other departments on incoming and 
outgoing science and technology missions to 
promote the Alberta Advantage globally and 
to support initiatives that advance technology 
commercialization and adoption in priority 
value-added sectors.

Operational Overview
Government Reorganization
The Alberta Life Sciences Institute and the 
Alberta ICT Institute were made possible through 
the Alberta Science and Research Authority 
Amendment Act, 2005. The Act came into force on 
December 1, 2005 and is now incorporated into the 
Alberta Science and Research Authority Act.

Shares from iCORE Inc. and the Alberta Research 
Council Inc. were transferred from the Alberta 
Science and Research Authority to the Crown 
effective April 1, 2005.

The charts and descriptions in this overview reflect 
the Ministry structure as of March 31, 2006.
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Alberta Science and Research Authority 
(ASRA)
ASRA is a provincial corporation comprised 
of members of Alberta’s academic, business 
and research communities, appointed by the 
provincial Cabinet. ASRA’s mission is to enhance 
the contribution of science and research to the 
sustainable prosperity and quality of life of all 
Albertans. In order to fulfill this mission, ASRA 
functions as the senior science and research 
advisory body to the Government of Alberta. 
ASRA includes:

• Alberta Life Sciences Institute.

• Alberta Agricultural Research Institute.

• Alberta Forestry Research Institute.

• Alberta Energy Research Institute.

• Alberta Information and Communications 
Technology Institute.

Alberta Life Sciences Institute (ALSI)
ALSI is an unincorporated board comprised of 
representatives from industry, academia and 
government. It provides strategic direction, sets 
priorities for research and monitors performance 
on the expansion of the province’s bio-economy. 

Alberta Agricultural Research Institute 
(AARI)
AARI is an unincorporated board comprised 
of representatives from industry, academia 
and government. It provides strategic direction 
in agricultural production and value-added 
products research and development, and 
coordinates investment in agricultural research 
and development for the province.

Alberta Forestry Research Institute 
(AFRI)
AFRI is an unincorporated board comprised 
of representatives from industry, academia and 
government. It provides strategic direction for, 
and encourages and supports private and public 
investment in, the economic, environmental, 
ecological and community sustainability of 
Alberta’s forestry sector. 

Alberta Energy Research Institute 
(AERI)
AERI is an unincorporated board comprised 
of representatives from industry, academia 
and government. It provides strategic direction 
to position Alberta for the future in energy 
development and invests in research and 
technology to enhance sustainable development 
of the province’s abundant energy resources.

Alberta Information and Communications 
Technology Institute (AICTI)
AICTI is an unincorporated board comprised 
of representatives from industry, academia and 
government which provides strategic advice and 
policy recommendations to government, and 
sets priorities for research. It will expand and 
update the province’s existing ICT research and 
innovation strategy and provide direction for 
public investment in research and development 
activities throughout the province.
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Alberta Research Council Inc. (ARC)
ARC is a not-for-profit corporation owned by 
the Government of Alberta, through the Ministry 
of Innovation and Science. A board of directors 
that includes representatives from the business 
and research communities in Alberta governs the 
corporation. ARC delivers innovative science 
and technology solutions to meet the priorities of 
industry and government in Alberta and beyond. 
Integrated multi-disciplinary teams help customers 
and partners take technologies from the laboratory 
to the field, strengthening their competitiveness and 
sustainability. ARC accelerates the development 
and commercialization of products, processes and 
services in the energy, life sciences, agriculture, 
environment, forestry and manufacturing sectors.

iCORE Inc. (Alberta Informatics Circle of 
Research Excellence)
iCORE is a not-for-profit corporation owned by 
the Government of Alberta through the Ministry 
of Innovation and Science. A board of directors 
that includes representatives from the business 
and research communities in Alberta governs the 
corporation. iCORE is part of the Government of 
Alberta’s strategy to develop the innovation-based 
economy of the province by attracting world-
class ICT researchers and graduate students to 
Alberta. iCORE invests in people — the highest 
calibre research scientists capable of working on 
fundamental and applied problems in informatics. 
Access to research expertise and high quality 
students provides Alberta’s traditional and emerging 
industry sectors with the knowledge and human 
resources needed to compete in the global economy.

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical 
Research (AHFMR)
Established by the Government of Alberta in 1980, 
AHFMR supports biomedical and health research 
at Alberta universities, affiliated institutions and 
other medical and technology-related institutions. 
AHFMR is an independent body at arms-length 
from, but accountable to, the government, 
reporting through the Minister of Alberta 
Innovation and Science. 

AHFMR currently provides funding for over 
600 researchers and researchers in training at 
the province’s three main universities. AHFMR’s 
commitment is to fund health research based on 
international standards of excellence, carried out by 
new and established investigators and researchers in 
training. Total funding awarded by AHFMR since 
1980 is in excess of $850 million.

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science 
and Engineering Research (operating as 
Alberta Ingenuity)
Alberta Ingenuity is the trade name of the Alberta 
Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering 
Research, established by the Government of 
Alberta in 2000. It supports a balanced, long-
term program of science and engineering research 
based in Alberta, to nurture the discovery of new 
knowledge and encourage its application to benefit 
Albertans. Alberta Ingenuity is an independent 
body at arms-length from, but accountable to, the 
government, reporting through the Minister of 
Alberta Innovation and Science.
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Deputy Minister 
The Deputy Minister provides leadership to the 
department and advises the Minister. The Deputy 
Minister also serves as the Chief Executive Officer 
of ASRA. 

Research
The Research Division works with the Alberta 
Science and Research Authority and the five 
research institutes to coordinate, support and 
promote research and innovation in the energy, 
ICT and life sciences (e.g. agriculture, forestry, 
health) sectors. The Research Division includes 
the following branches: Energy Research and 
Development; Life Sciences Research and 
Development (including forestry and agriculture); 
and ICT Research and Development. These 
branches work on cross-divisional initiatives, and 
with other government departments and agencies 
to support an integrated approach to research 
and innovation.

Innovation Implementation
The overarching purpose of the Innovation 
Implementation Division is to facilitate the creation 
of successful new companies in key emerging 
industries. The division focuses its efforts on four 
primary areas of activity: technology development 
services; business development services; enhanced 
access to venture capital; and international 
partnerships and investment.

Policy and Strategic Planning
The Policy and Strategic Planning Division supports 
the Ministry in planning and policy development 
and addresses legislative and regulatory issues. It 
has two branches: Innovation Policy and Planning, 
and University Research and Strategic Investments. 

The Innovation Policy and Planning Branch  
co-ordinates strategic and business planning, 
develops performance measures and provides input 
to cross-Ministry and federal/provincial/territorial 
activities for the department. The branch also 
supports strategic activities of the Alberta Science 
and Research Authority.

Department of Innovation and Science (as of March 31, 2006)
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The University Research and Strategic Investment 
Branch is responsible for the pre- and post-award 
management of research capacity/equipment grant 
programs and the Innovation and Service Excellence 
Program. It also strategically coordinates with other 
research partners on initiatives and investments to 
build capacity and research excellence in Alberta.

Communications
The Communications Division provides timely, 
strategic communications support and advice 
(planning, consulting and technical guidance) 
to the Minister, the department and the Alberta 
Science and Research Authority on key issues, 
policies and initiatives. 

Communications works closely with other 
provincial departments and other levels of 
government, media, stakeholders, educational 
institutions and others to inform Albertans about 
the importance of innovation. The division 
coordinates materials and messages that promote 
Alberta’s capabilities and strengths, and informs 
researchers, industry and others about initiatives 
that foster innovation. Communications also 
collaborates with public and private sector partners 
to encourage youth to consider science and 
technology careers.

Corporate Services
The Corporate Services Division supports the 
Ministry in fiscal planning, financial reporting 
and general corporate services while strategically 
applying information management practices and 
information technology to the current and emerging 
business needs of the department. Corporate 
Services includes the Finance Division and the 
Departmental Chief Information Office (DCIO). 

The Finance Division provides strategic services in 
the areas of fiscal planning, financial reporting and 
general corporate services to the Ministry, ASRA, 
various committees, ARC and iCORE. The goal 
of the division is to work with business areas to 
increase the effectiveness and efficiency of financial 
management, reporting and accountability within 
the Ministry.

The DCIO works to deliver innovative solutions 
to optimize program delivery, improve the use 
and management of information, and support 
knowledge sharing and collaborative work.

Human Resources
The Human Resources Division provides 
comprehensive delivery of strategic human 
resources, generalist (operational) human resources 
and organizational development to the Ministry. 
Services include consultation with business areas 
and development of a human resources plan that is 
consistent with the Alberta Public Service human 
resources plan and focused on: 

• Building capacity through leadership, and 
learning and development.

• Attracting and retaining quality and skilled 
personnel.

• Encouraging high performance and employee 
engagement. 

• Maintaining employee and organizational 
wellness. 

• Implementing effective and appropriate processes 
and systems. 

• Keeping pace with best practices in people 
management and leadership.
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To the Members of the Legislative Assembly

Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the performance results included in the 
Ministry of Innovation and Science’s 2005-06 Annual Report. My responsibility is to carry out the 
following specified auditing procedures on performance measures in the annual report. I verified:

Completeness 

1. Performance measures and targets matched those included in Budget 2005. Actual results are 
presented for all performance measures.

Reliability 

2. Information in reports from external organizations, such as Statistics Canada, matched information 
that the Ministry used to calculate the actual results. 

3. Information in reports that originated in the Ministry matched information that the Ministry used to 
calculate the actual results. In addition, I tested the processes the Ministry used to compile the results  
(see exceptions below noting errors and unexplained differences).

Comparability and Understandability

4. Actual results are presented clearly and consistently with the stated methodology and are presented on 
the same basis as targets and prior years’ information. 

As a result of applying the above procedures, I found errors and unexplained differences when I tested the 
compilation of data in the Ministry’s Strategic Investment Research Database used to report results for these 
six measures:

Ratio of private and other public investments: 
• in energy research, to Government of Alberta (GOA) investments in energy research
• in information and communications technology (ICT) research, to GOA investments in 

ICT research
• in life sciences research, to GOA investments in life sciences research

Non-GOA and GOA investment in:
• energy research
• ICT research
• life sciences research

Report of the Auditor General on the Results of Applying 
Specified Auditing Procedures to Performance Measures

The official version of this Report 
of the Auditor General, and the 
information the Report covers, is 
in printed form.
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  Management explains in the Discussion of Results under Goal 3 the reasons for the errors and 
unexplained differences in these six measures. During the year, management improved controls 
over the compilation of the data for these measures and is now implementing a new system that 
they believe will further improve the quality of the data.

As my examination was limited to procedures 1 to 4 above, I do not express an opinion on whether the set 
of measures is relevant and sufficient to assess the performance of the Ministry in achieving its goals.

FCA 
Auditor General

Edmonton, Alberta 
August 18, 2006

[Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA]





Results Analysis
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Ministry of Innovation and Science 
Net Operating Results

A Snapshot of Financial Performance

A Snapshot of Financial Performance 

Ministry of Innovation and Science 
Net Operating Results 

(in thousands)
2005-06
Budget

 2005-06
Actual

2004-05
Actual

REVENUE
Internal Government Transfers - Lottery Fund 60,238 60,238 69,285
Transfers from Government of Canada 2,442 1,485 374
Investment Income 500 649 956
Other Revenue 47,450 39,223 34,162

110,630 101,595 104,777

EXPENSES
Innovation 178,301 194,593 187,799
Ministry Support Services 5,146 4,468 4,279
Valuation Adjustment - Provision for Vacation Pay - 35 99

183,447 199,096 192,177

OTHER EXPENSES
Writedown of Tangible Capital Assets - 315 -
Gain on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets - (360) (70)

- (45) (70)

(72,817) (97,456) (87,330)

OTHER
Operating Loss from Discontinued Operations - - 554
Writedown of Tangible Capital Assets - - 4,591
Gain on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets - - (25)

- - 5,120
NET OPERATING RESULTS (72,817) (97,456) (92,450)

4,302 8,078 4,924
EQUIPMENT AND INVENTORY PURCHASES /
CAPITAL INVESTMENT

NET OPERATING RESULTS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Financial results of the Ministry of Innovation and Science for the year ended March 31, 2006 
include the activities of the Department of Innovation and Science, ARC and iCORE. More 
detailed information can be found in the Ministry’s financial statements.

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $
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Internal Government Transfers - Lottery Fund 60,238 60,238 69,285
Transfers from Government of Canada 2,442 1,485 374
Investment Income 500 649 956
Other Revenue 47,450 39,223 34,162

110,630 101,595 104,777

EXPENSES
Innovation 178,301 194,593 187,799
Ministry Support Services 5,146 4,468 4,279
Valuation Adjustment - Provision for Vacation Pay - 35 99

183,447 199,096 192,177

OTHER EXPENSES
Writedown of Tangible Capital Assets - 315 -
Gain on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets - (360) (70)

- (45) (70)

(72,817) (97,456) (87,330)

OTHER
Operating Loss from Discontinued Operations - - 554
Writedown of Tangible Capital Assets - - 4,591
Gain on Disposal of Tangible Capital Assets - - (25)

- - 5,120
NET OPERATING RESULTS (72,817) (97,456) (92,450)

4,302 8,078 4,924
EQUIPMENT AND INVENTORY PURCHASES /
CAPITAL INVESTMENT

NET OPERATING RESULTS FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Financial results of the Ministry of Innovation and Science for the year ended March 31, 2006 
include the activities of the Department of Innovation and Science, ARC and iCORE. More 
detailed information can be found in the Ministry’s financial statements.
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Revenues

Sources of Revenue

Various 
0.5%

Investment Income 
0.6%

ARC Commercial Revenue 
38.1%

Internal Government Transfers 
– Lottery Fund 

59.3%

Transfers from Government 
of Canada 

1.5%

Other Revenue 
38.6%

2005–06 Actual Revenue: $101.6 million

Actual Revenue for the Ministry totalled  
$101.6 million for 2005–06, including:
• $60.2 million through an internal government 

transfer from the Lottery Fund for research and 
development initiatives.

• $1.5 million from the Government of Canada for 
research and development initiatives.

• $0.6 million in investment income due to 
interest earned on the bank accounts of ARC 
and iCORE.

• $39.2 million in other revenue as follows:

o $38.7 million in contract revenue for ARC 
from the provision of research work.

o $0.5 million in other income  
(e.g. prior year refunds).

Comparison of 2005–06  
Actual to Budget
Revenues were $9.0 million lower than budgeted 
primarily due to lower than anticipated ARC 
contract revenues.

Comparison of 2005–06 Actual to  
2004–05 Actual
Revenues decreased by $3.2 million over 2004–05, 
primarily due to a $9.0 million decrease in lottery 
funding. A $5.2 million increase in ARC contract 
research revenue and a $0.6 million increase in 
miscellaneous revenues partially offset this decrease.
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Expenses

Expense by Function
(in thousands)

The consolidated budgets and financial statements 
of the Government of Alberta classify government 
expenses by function. The purpose of this 
classification is to provide a basis for sound 
reporting of expense by function according to 
national standards and for international reporting 
purposes. Expense by function allocations are 
used for inter-provincial comparisons and for 

determining federal funding eligibility. An expense 
function is defined as a classification that identifies 
the principal purpose for which an expense is 
incurred rather than the activity involved. The 
Ministry of Innovation and Science expenses are 
classified under the function agriculture, resource 
management and economic development.

Expenses by Core Business

(98.00%
)

(2.00%
)

Total Expenses: $199.1 million

Core Business: 
Innovation 

98%

Ministry Support 
Services 

2%

2005–06 
Budget 

2005–06 
Actuals 

2004–05 
Actuals

Agriculture, Resource 
Management and 
Economic Development

$ 183,447 $ 199,096 $ 192,177
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Expenses for the Ministry totalled $199.1 million 
for 2005–06, including:

• $194.6 million related to Innovation:

o $147.4 million for grant programs, including:

• $61.4 million for ARC.

• $32.0 million for the Alberta Science and 
Research Investment Program as well as 
Science Awareness.

• $15.4 million for life sciences.

• $14.3 million for energy research.

• $11.3 million for iCORE to build 
capability in ICT research.

• $4.9 million to facilitate technology 
commercialization.

• $4.3 million to facilitate emerging 
opportunities.

• $3.8 million to facilitate information and 
communications technology.

o $30.0 million, a one-time budget allocation to 
extend AVAC Ltd. services to the key growth 
sectors of ICT, life sciences and industrial 
technology.

o $5.1 million for the Innovation and Service 
Excellence Program to encourage innovation 
within the Government of Alberta.

o $12.1 million for operations and policy 
implementation.

• $4.5 million for Ministry Support Services.

Comparison of 2005–06 Actual 
to Budget
Expenses were $15.6 million higher than budgeted 
primarily due to the $30.0 million increase in 
Technology Commercialization Initiatives resulting 
from the approval of a one-time supplementary 
estimate in 2005–06 to fund the extension of AVAC 
Ltd. services. This increase was partially offset by 
the following decreases:

• $3.8 million transfer from Operating to 
Equipment and Inventory Purchases (EIP)  
($1.1 million for the Department and $2.7 
million for ARC).

• $10.0 million decrease related to lower than 
anticipated contract research activity at ARC.

Comparison of 2005–06 Actual to  
2004–05 Actual
The $6.9 million increase is primarily due to:

• a $30.0 million increase in Technology 
Commercialization Initiatives resulting from the 
approval of a one-time supplementary estimate 
in 2005–06 to fund the extension of AVAC Ltd. 
services.

• $3.7 million increase in contract research activity 
for ARC relative to prior year.

• $11.2 million base budget increase in  
2005–06 compared to 2004–05 to fund 
research initiatives.

The $38.0 million one-time supplementary estimate 
in 2004–05 to fund prion science research partially 
offsets the above increases.
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Equipment and Inventory Purchases 
(EIP)/Capital Investment

EIP & Capital Investment by Entity

Comparison of 2005–06 Actual to  
2005–06 Budget and 2004–05 Actual
Spending was $3.8 million higher than budgeted, 
primarily due to the construction of a new 
Agriculture Fibre Processing Facility at ARC’s 
Edmonton location and expenditures in the 
Innovation and Service Excellence Program.

Total EIP & Capital: $8.1 million

Department 
17%

Alberta Research 
Council Inc.

83%

(in thousands)

2005–06 
Budget 

2005–06 
Actual 

2004–05 
Actual

Alberta Research Council Inc. $  $4,002 $  6,684 $  4,738

Department of Innovation 
and Science  300  1,394  186

$  4,302 $  8,078 $  4,924
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Core Business: Innovation
Core Business Operating Expense: $194.6 million 
Core Business Equipment and Inventory Purchases: $7.7 million

Goal 1: Accelerate Innovation
Goal 1 Operating Expense: $84.9 million 
Equipment and Inventory Purchases: $6.3 million

Discussion of Results:
Investments by the Government of Alberta (GOA) 
to support innovation totalled $389.9 million, 
1.6 per cent of total expenditures. The result 
demonstrates the government’s commitment to 
innovation through growth of actual investment 
in innovation. Actual expenditures on innovation-
supporting activities are increasing.

This is a new measure introduced in the 2005–08 
business plan. Investments in research, development 
and innovation help achieve the objectives of the 
provincial government’s policy of accelerating 
innovation in Alberta. The measure is a leading 
indicator that tracks cross-government effort related 
to an important and necessary input.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

What we accomplished in 2005–06  
Performance Measures Results1

Performance Measure 1.a:  
Percentage of Government of Alberta expense used to support innovation.

Sources: Statistics Canada, Government of Alberta Annual Reports

Performance Measure
Actual  

2003–04 
Actual 

2004–05 
Target 

2005–06

1.a Percentage of GOA expense 
used to support innovation

1.54% 1.60%
Increasing up to 5%, 

as affordable, by 2015

1The met
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Performance Measure 1.b: Number of Albertans employed in  
knowledge-intensive (high-tech) companies.

Sources: Economic Development, Alberta Business Monitor.

Performance Measure
Actual  
2004 

Actual 
2005 

Target 
2005–06

1.b Number of Albertans 
employed in knowledge-
intensive (high-tech) companies

111,100 122,900 113,300

Discussion of Results:
There were 122,900 people employed in 2005 in 
Alberta’s knowledge-intensive (high-tech) sector, 
which is 8.5 per cent higher than the target of 
113,300. Most of the increase occurred in two 
sectors: Computer Systems Design & Related 
Services and Architectural, Engineering & 
Related Services.

Demand for knowledge-based workers is influenced 
by the state of the energy sector in Alberta, the 
state of the global high-tech industry such as 
emerging developments in Asia (e.g., China and 
India) and the overall economic performance. The 
targets for this measure were based on an expected 
three per cent rate of growth. The 10.6 per cent 
growth over the prior year can be considered a 
significant and remarkable recovery.

In the 2005–08 business plan, this measure was 
changed from “number of Albertans employed in 
the ICT sector” to “number of Albertans employed 
in knowledge-intensive companies,” a broadening 
beyond the prior focus on ICT. This measure uses 
the same data source, the North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) codes; however, it 
includes a wider range of codes. The measure went 
through an important change as Statistics Canada 
implemented the revised and updated NAICS 
(2002) codes for the business categories.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure 1.c: Albertans employed in knowledge-intensive (high-tech) 
companies as a percentage of Albertans employed in all companies.

Sources: Economic Development, Alberta Business Monitor.

Performance Measure
Actual  
2004 

Actual 
2005 

Target 
2005–06

1.c Albertans employed in 
knowledge-intensive (high-tech) 
companies as a percentage 
of Albertan employed in all 
companies

6.3% 6.9% 6.4%
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Discussion of Results:
The result of 6.9 per cent of Albertans employed 
in knowledge-intensive (high-tech) companies as a 
percentage of Albertans employed in all companies 
exceeded the target of 6.4 per cent. The main factor 
causing the result to exceed the target is the strength 
of Alberta’s energy sector, which created demand 
for services to support its remarkable growth. 
The most growth within the knowledge-intensive 
sector was in Computer Systems Design & Related 
Services and Architectural, Engineering & Related 
Services.

This is a new measure introduced in the 2005–08 
business plan. It complements the measure “number 
of Albertans employed in knowledge-intensive 
(high-tech) companies.” This measure presents 
an indication of the diversification of Alberta’s 
economy and is based on the updated NAICS 
(2002) codes recently adopted by Statistics Canada 
to track business statistics and uses a wider range of 
NAICS codes to define the sector.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure 1.d: Percentage of Canadian venture capital invested in Alberta.

Discussion of Results:
In 2005, Alberta knowledge-based companies 
attracted 2.9 per cent of the total venture capital 
invested in Canada, an improvement over the 
1.6 per cent in 2004 but below the target value 
of 4.5 per cent. Alberta companies attracted 
significantly more venture capital in 2005  
($42.8 million) compared to 2004 ($22.6 million).

The target was not reached because Alberta’s 
venture capital market is still developing with 
much of the capital allocated to the energy sector. 
Energy investments are not captured in the 
Thomson MacDonald database as they are not 
defined as venture capital. The attractiveness of 
other investment opportunities (such as energy 
investments) and fiscal policy in other Canadian 
provinces affect venture capital investment 
in Alberta.

Source: Thompson MacDonald Ltd. 
NOTE: The source data from Thompson MacDonald Ltd. is dynamic, with additional data relevant to a period added on a continual basis 
as it becomes available.

Performance Measure
Actual  
2004 

Actual 
2005 

Target 
2005–06

1.d Percentage of Canadian 
venture capital invested in 
Alberta

1.6% 2.9% 4.5%

This measure assesses the impact of the Ministry 
of Innovation and Science activities aimed at 
attracting and facilitating access to venture capital 
in the province. Venture capital is often cited as an 
important factor contributing to innovation and 
knowledge industry growth in Alberta. Therefore, 
this measure provides an indication of the capacity 
and capability needed to support an innovative and 
globally competitive economy.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.
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Performance Measure 1.e: Alberta business expenditures on research and development 
(in millions).

Performance Measure
Actual  
2002 

Actual 
2003

Target 
2005–06

1.e Alberta business 
expenditures on research and 
development (in millions)

$811* $782 $770

Sources: Statistics Canada, Service Bulletin Science Statistics. Vol. 29, No. 8, Table 7 
*Actual (2002) is a restated value from Statistics Canada in a December 2005 publication.

Discussion of Results:
The result of $782 million in business funding of 
research and development slightly exceeded the 
target of $770 million for the reporting period.  
The $811 million (for 2002) presented in the annual 
report is the revised value released by Statistics 
Canada in December 2005.

This is a new measure introduced in the  
2005–08 business plan. It measures an input to the 
innovation process. Investments in research result 
in innovative ideas that can lead to products and 
processes that, if commercialized in Alberta, have 
the potential to yield significant economic and 
social benefits for the province. Business invests 
in research with the expectation of economic 
benefit by using science and technology, as well 
as other sources of innovation, to meet or create 
market needs.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.
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Goal 2: Build research capacity in areas of strategic priority
Goal 2 Operating Expense: $33.8 million

Performance Measure 2.a: Total sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta 
universities (in millions).

Performance Measure
Actual  

2003–04 
Actual 

2004–05 
Target 

2005–06

2.a Total sponsored research 
revenue attracted by Alberta 
universities (in millions) 

$584* $651** $606

Source: Alberta Innovation and Science, University Research and Strategic Investments Branch 
* 2003-04 Research Funding at Alberta Universities Report, December 2004. 
** 2004-05 Research Funding at Alberta Universities Report, January 2006.

Discussion of Results:
Sponsored research funding increased significantly 
from $584 million in 2003–04 to $651 million in 
2004–05 (the most recent data available), exceeding 
the 2005–06 target of $606 million.

The increase is largely due to increased Government 
of Alberta contributions to capital projects at the 
University of Alberta and the University of Calgary 
exceeding $68 million. Sponsored research funding 
has nearly doubled in the last 5 years, reflecting 
Alberta’s success in garnering research awards and 
new investments in research capital initiatives aimed 
at increasing the research capacity and capability of 
Alberta’s universities.

Excellence in research attracts sponsored research 
revenue in a highly competitive environment. The 
ability of universities to attract research funding 
indicates the quality of the universities’ faculty and 
research programs and the capability and capacity 
of Alberta’s research system. Research conducted 
in Alberta’s universities contributes to innovative 
discoveries that have the potential for economic and 
societal benefits and provides an effective training 
ground for a skilled workforce. Strengthening 
Alberta’s innovation capacity is critical to ensuring 
long-term economic competitiveness.

The key external factors that impact this measure 
include:

• Business activities and growth in strategic 
industry sectors and the overall state of the 
economy. This strongly impacts the levels of 
industry-sponsored research.

• Endowed funds invested in research such as 
those administered by AHFMR and Alberta 
Ingenuity. These depend on investment revenues 
that are linked to performance of the financial 
markets. The increase of both endowment funds 
announced in 2005–06 is expected to enhance 
sponsored research revenue by 2008 – 09.

• Availability of federal research funds. This has 
a significant impact on total sponsored research 
as provincial research funding is used to attract 
additional federal funds to support Alberta 
priorities.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.
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Performance Measure 2.b: Total sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta 
technical institutes and colleges (in millions).

Discussion of Results:
The result of $1.3 million exceeded the target of 
$1.2 million. This new measure, introduced in 
2005–08, reflects the early growth and success of 
colleges and technical institutes in taking on this 
new mandate of applied research. Data is provided 
annually. Alberta colleges and technical institutes 
that contributed to this measure in 2005–06 were 
the Alberta College of Art and Design, Lethbridge 
Community College and Olds College. There is 
a one-year lag in the data, as the year-end for the 
colleges and technical institutes is June 30. For this 
report, the most recent data available is for  
2004–05.

The mandate to conduct applied research was 
given to Alberta’s colleges and technical institutes 
in 2005 through the Post Secondary Learning 
Act. As such, Alberta’s colleges and technical 
institutes are currently developing their applied 
research programs. Their performance in garnering 
sponsored research dollars is consistent with 
previous years and is appropriate for an initiative in 
its early stages.

Performance Measure Actual  
2003–04 

Actual 
2004–05 

Target 
2005–06

2.b Total sponsored research 
revenue attracted by Alberta’s 
colleges and technical institutes 
(in millions) 

$1.2 $1.3 $1.2

Source: Alberta Advanced Education.

The measure of sponsored research revenue 
garnered by colleges and technical institutes 
demonstrates the extent to which the institutes 
are developing their research and development 
capacity and productivity. The ability of colleges 
and technical institutes to attract research and 
development funding from the private sector and 
government agencies is an indicator of the quality 
of the institution’s faculty and the ability of the 
institution to solve issues of relevance to industry. 
Strengthening Alberta’s capacity to capitalize on the 
benefits of research is critical to ensuring long-term 
economic competitiveness.

Several key external factors that affect results:

• Business activities and growth in strategic 
industry sectors.

• Development of applied research challenges 
requiring college and technical institute expertise.

• Overall state of the economy.

• Availability of federal research funds for colleges 
and technical institutes.

The measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.
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Goal 3: Accelerate innovation in the energy sector
Goal 3 Operating Expense: $37.7 million 
Equipment and Inventory Purchases: $0.9 million

Performance Measure 3.a: Ratio of private and other public investments in energy 
research to Government of Alberta investments in energy research.

Performance Measure
Actual  

2004–05 
Actual 

2005–06 
Target 

2005–06

3.a Ratio of private and other 
public investments in energy 
research to GOA investments in 
energy research 

2.82 1.71 2.50

Source: Innovation and Science, Strategic Investment Research Database.

Discussion of Results:
In 2005–06, collaborating partners invested $1.71 
in energy research for every dollar invested by the 
Government of Alberta. The result for 2005–06 
of 1.71 is lower than the target of 2.50. This is 
attributable to factors such as a more rigorous 
review of investments by all parties, the end of 
some high-leverage projects and some new strategic 
investments that had lower leverage.

The 2004–05 actual of 2.82 reported here differs 
from the Actual for 2004–05 of 3.34 reported in 
the Ministry’s 2004–05 Annual Report because 
the basis for calculating the ratio changed 
from “Innovation and Science” investments in 
the denominator to “Government of Alberta” 
investments.

This measure goes beyond reporting on 
Government of Alberta investments and seeks to 
capture and report on the multi-year investments 
by all collaborating partners in this strategically 
important area of research and innovation. The 
procedures to acquire the data from multiple 
research funding partners are being developed 
and improved. This measure is a combined result 
for investments by AERI and the University 
Research and Strategic Investments in research 
equipment and other operating needs. This measure 
is influenced by economic factors that affect the 
amount of industry investment in energy research.

This measure is referenced in the Report of the 
Auditor General on the Results of Applying 
Specified Auditing Procedures. The auditor’s report 
indicates that this measure is one of six measures 
from the SIR database that included errors and 
unexplained differences. The other measures are 
referred to in this annual report as 3b, 4b, 4c, 5a, 
and 5b. Over the last year, the department has 
actively taken steps to remedy the errors. This has 
been done by updating its Ratio Guidelines and 
improving its internal quality controls to minimize 
errors in data reporting and methodology. The 
department is also in the process of implementing a 
new electronic grant management system which will 
improve data management processes.

The department has been collecting data from 
multiple sources for other purposes for several 
years. Not all of this data was originally designed 
to be used for performance measurement. 
Therefore when applying it toward performance 
measurement, inconsistencies may be encountered 
given the large number of research and grant 
agreements administered by the department. Over 
the last year, the department was able to reduce the 
number of inconsistencies.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.
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Performance Measure 3.b:

Non-GOA investment in energy research:

• Non-GOA investment through existing programs 
(in millions)

• Non-GOA investment through EnergyINet 
(in millions)

GOA investment in energy research:

• GOA investment through existing programs 
(in millions)

• GOA investment through EnergyINet 
(in millions)

Discussion of Results:
The results for 2005–06 non-government and 
government investment in energy research were 
below target. This is due to several factors: in-kind 
contributions were not included and several projects 
were concluded in 2004–05. The investments 
through EnergyINet were less than expected due to 
the nature of projects led by EnergyINet.

Performance Measure(s) Actual  
2004–05 

Actual 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

3.b Non-GOA investment in 
energy research (in millions):

• Non-GOA investment through 
existing programs  $50.0  $29.4 $27.0

• Non-GOA investment through 
EnergyINet  $0.5  $0.6  $8.2

 $50.5 $30.0 $35.2

GOA investment in energy 
research (in millions):

• GOA investment through 
existing programs $14.9 $12.5 $13.8

• GOA investment through 
EnergyINet  $4.6 $2.6 $4.2

$19.5 $15.1 $18.0

Source: Innovation and Science, Strategic Investment Research Database.

This is a new measure that complements the ratio 
measure by presenting investments for the fiscal 
year. This measure is based on the fiscal year 
and is not directly comparable to the multi-year 
ratio measure.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 business 
plan but is slightly changed with the component 
related to EnergyINet discontinued. EnergyINet is 
now an independent not-for-profit corporation that 
is not within the control of government.



Alberta Innovation and Science Annual Report 2005–06 45

Performance Measure 3.c: Growth of EnergyINet — number of participating organizations

Performance Measure Last Actual  
2004–05 

Result 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

3.c Growth of EnergyINet

• Number of participating 
organizations

0 19 10

Discussion of Results:
The growth of EnergyINet to include 19 
organizations exceeded the target of 10 
organizations in 2005–06. This was due to the 
high interest in this initiative shown by the private 
sector, other Alberta government departments 
and other levels of governments across Canada. 
Additionally, some companies not in the energy 
sector also joined.

EnergyINet, incorporated in August 2005 as a 
private not-for-profit national entity, was developed 
to drive stronger collaboration in energy innovation 
across the country. The growth of EnergyINet 
was a measure added to monitor progress on 
implementing Alberta’s energy innovation strategy. 
Membership in EnergyINet shows support for goals 
and programs that are aligned with Alberta’s energy 
innovation strategy. A number of the strategies 
for 2005–08 were based on the development and 
success of EnergyINet as a primary vehicle for 
collaboration among government, industry and 
researchers on a national and international basis.

This measure is not continued in the 2006–09 
business plan as EnergyINet became a private entity 
when it incorporated in August 2005.

Source: Innovation and Science, Alberta Energy Research Institute, and EnergyINet
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Goal 4: Accelerate innovation in the information and communications 
technology sector
Goal 4 Operating Expense: $15.1 million

Performance Measure 4.a: Total number of ICT researchers and graduate students 
attracted to Alberta universities by iCORE Inc.

Discussion of Results:
The 2005–06 results for three components of 
the measure met or exceeded the targets. One 
component, new research chair awards, was one 
less than the target of four. This is due to the long 
lead time in recruiting high caliber research chairs. 
Qualified candidates may not be available within a 
fiscal year. iCORE surpassed the target for 23 active 
chairs by one, as chair renewals for this past year 
were higher than expected. On average, iCORE 
expects to renew 75 per cent of active chairs, but 
this year, 100 per cent of awards were renewed.

The 2004–05 last actual for Active Graduate 
Student Scholarships was re-stated from the  
2004–05 last actual reported in the 2004–05 
Annual Report due to improved quality assurance 
measures for performing counting and a new 
definition for active graduate student scholarships.

Actual  
2004–05 

Actual 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

4.a iCORE awards (totals 
include “new”)

New research chairs, industry 
chairs and professors

4 3 4

Total active research chairs, 
industry chairs and professors

21 24 23

New graduate student 
scholarships

100 105 80

Total active graduate student 
scholarships

254 263 200

Source: iCORE Inc.

There were 105 new awards to graduate students in 
2005–06 for a total of 263 active graduate students 
attracted to and retained in Alberta by iCORE 
support. The targets were for 80 new graduate 
awards and 200 active ones. iCORE exceeded 
expectations to attract the best graduate students 
for the scholarship program, in part, due to an 
extraordinary $2.0 million in funding provided by 
the Ministry of Advanced Education.

iCORE’s primary function is the attraction, 
retention, education and support of exceptional ICT 
researchers. They have a direct effect on the amount 
of research funding and the number and quality 
of graduate students attracted to the province. 
Increasing the number of world-class researchers 
and graduate students in Alberta is crucial to 
Alberta’s success in fostering excellence in ICT 
research and technology development.

Performance Measure
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Several external factors that affect results:

• Research chairs of the desired calibre, their 
research teams and their families must be willing 
to move to Alberta in the face of world-wide 
competition for their skills.

• Few large ICT companies in the province can 
be the required funding partner for an Industry 
Research Chair.

• Universities, the Natural Sciences and 
Engineering Research Council and/or Alberta 
Ingenuity review graduate student qualifications 
first. The reasons why computer science and 
electrical engineering student numbers rise or fall 
are beyond the Ministry’s control.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure 4.b: Ratio of private and other public investments in ICT research 
to Government of Alberta investments in ICT research.

Performance Measure Actual  
2004–05 

Actual 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

4.b Ratio of private and other 
public investments in ICT 
research to GOA investments in 
ICT research*

1.81 1.94 1.95

Sources: iCORE Inc. and Strategic Investment Research Database 
*The ratio is based on investments/commitments over the life of the research agreement, rather than expenditures in a single year, as 
multi-year agreements often have different payment schedules.
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Discussion of Results:
In 2005–06, collaborating partners invested $1.94 
in ICT research for every dollar invested by the 
Government of Alberta. The actual for 2005–06 of 
1.94 was higher than the 2004–05 actual of 1.81 
but below the target of 1.95. This is attributable 
to several factors including a more rigorous review 
of investments by all parties, the end of some 
high leverage projects and some new strategic 
investments.

The 2004–05 actual of 1.81 reported here differs 
from the actual for 2004–05 of 1.89 reported in 
the Ministry’s 2004–05 Annual Report, because 
the basis for calculating the ratio changed 
from “Innovation and Science” investments in 
the denominator to “Government of Alberta” 
investments.

This measure goes beyond reporting on 
Government of Alberta investments and seeks to 
capture and report on the multi-year investments 
by all collaborating partners in this strategically 
important area of research and innovation. The 
procedures to acquire the data from multiple 
research funding partners are being developed and 
improved. This measure is a combined result for 
investments by iCORE, Innovation Implementation 
and the University Research and Strategic 
Investments branch in research equipment and 
other operating needs.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure 4.c: Non-GOA investment in ICT research, and GOA investment in 
ICT research (in millions)

Discussion of Results:
In 2005–06, collaborating partners invested $60.2 
million in ICT research and the Government of 
Alberta invested $23.6 million. The increase in 
partner funding can be attributed, in part, to the 
gradual recovery of the ICT industry and aggressive 
efforts by the Ministry to attract corporate partners 
to participate in research in the province. Significant 
investment in emerging industries, especially 
nanotechnology, also contributed to the increased 
non-Government of Alberta funding.

Performance Measure Actual  
2004–05 

Actual 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

4.c Investment in ICT research 
(in millions)

• Non-GOA investment in 
ICT research $52.8 $60.2 $47.0

• GOA investments in  
ICT research $23.7 $23.6 $24.1

Sources: iCORE Inc. and Strategic Investment Research Database

This new measure is based on the fiscal year 
and is not directly comparable to the multi-
year ratio measure. This measure is a combined 
result for investments by iCORE, Innovation 
Implementation and the University Research and 
Strategic Investments branch in research equipment 
and other operating needs. Investment by others 
is evidence that they recognize the excellence of 
Alberta’s people, ideas, research capacity and 
capability.
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External factors that affect the province’s ability to 
attract additional research funding include:

• Importance that other potential partners see in 
funding university-based research.

• Current economic climate, and political 
pressures.

• Private sector partners, typically large ICT 
companies, have the resources to fund research, 
and they may choose to conduct research in-
house or sometimes partner with a university.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Goal 5: Accelerate innovation in the life sciences sector

Goal 5 Operating Expense: $23.1 million

Equipment and Inventory Purchases: $0.5 million

Performance Measure 5.a: Ratio of private and other public investments in life sciences 
research to Government of Alberta investments in life sciences research.

Performance Measure
Actual  

2004–05 
Actual 

2005–06 
Target 

2005–06

5.a Ratio of private and 
other public investments in 
life sciences research to GOA 
investments in life sciences 
research

1.64 1.27 2.27

Source: SIR Database, Innovation and Science

Discussion of Results:
In 2005–06, collaborating partners invested  
$1.27 in life sciences research for every dollar 
invested by the Government of Alberta. The  
2005–06 actual of 1.27 was below the target of 
2.27 and below the 2004–05 actual of 1.64. This 
is attributable to several factors including a more 
rigorous review of investments by all parties, the 
end of some high leverage projects and some new 
strategic investments.

The 2004–05 actual of 1.64 reported here 
differs from the actual for 2004–05 of 3.14 
reported in the Ministry’s 2004–05 Annual Report, 
because the basis for calculating the ratio changed 
from “Innovation and Science” investments in 
the denominator to “Government of Alberta” 
investments.

This measure goes beyond reporting on 
Government of Alberta investments and seeks to 
capture and report on the multi-year investments 
by all collaborating partners in this strategically 
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important area of research and innovation. The 
procedures to acquire the data from multiple 
research funding partners are being developed 
and improved. This measure is a combined result 
for investments by the life sciences branch (ALSI, 
AARI, AFRI) and the University Research and 
Strategic Investments branch that funds research 
equipment and other operating needs.

Several factors influenced the outcomes:

• Priorities identified for life sciences by the 
ALSI, AARI and AFRI determined investment 
allocations.

• ASRIP competition periods affected when 
agreements were reached and expenditures were 
made.

• Large-scale research initiatives will conclude in 
the next few years.

• Changes in federal research funding programs 
and in the provincial government budget for the 
Ministry of Innovation and Science and other 
Alberta research agencies affected funds available 
for investment.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure(s)
Actual  

2004–05 
Actual 

2005–06 
Target 

2005–06

5.b Investment in life sciences 
research (in millions)

Non-GOA investment in life 
sciences research

$86.4 $64.9 $51.3

GOA investment in life sciences 
research 

$69.0 $35.2 $22.6

Discussion of Results:
The results for 2005–06 exceeded the targets for 
both components of this measure. The Government 
of Alberta investment in 2004–05 was higher 
than in prior years because of the investment of 
$38.0 million in prion research announced in 
March 2005.

This new measure is based on fiscal year 
expenditures for grants.

Several factors influenced the outcomes:

• Priorities identified for life sciences by ALSI, 
AARI and AFRI determined investment 
allocations.

Source: SIR Database, Innovation and Science

• ASRIP competition periods affected when 
agreements were reached and expenditures were 
made.

• Large-scale research initiatives will conclude in 
the next few years.

• Changes in federal research funding programs 
and in the provincial government budget for the 
Ministry of Innovation and Science and other 
Alberta research agencies affected funds available 
for investment.

This measure is continued in the 2006–09 
business plan.

Performance Measure 5.b: Non-GOA investment in life sciences research, and GOA 
investment in life sciences research (in millions)
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Performance Measures Related to Key Corporate Activities
Measure: Innovation and Science employee satisfaction and understanding of contribution.

Actual  
2004–05 

Actual 
2005–06 

Target 
2005–06

Percentage of employees who know 
and understand how their work 
contributes to the achievement of their 
department business plan

79% 78% 93%

Percentage of employees who are 
very/somewhat satisfied with their 
employment at Innovation and 
Science/Government of Alberta

88% 82% 92%

Percentage of employees who agree 
that Innovation and Science provides 
the support they need to acquire or 
develop knowledge and skills in their 
current job

80% 78% 82%

Percentage of employees indicating 
that their organization provides 
expected outcomes for their work

74% 67% 80%

Percentage of employees indicating 
that their organization helps them 
know and understand how well they 
are performing

79% 64% 82%

Source: Government of Alberta 2005 Corporate Employee Survey

Discussion of Results:
The 2005–06 results for the five indicators did 
not meet their targets for the year. The results 
ranged from 4 per cent to 18 per cent below the 
target. The department continues to take active 
steps to improve the achievement of these targets. 
These steps include the initiation of two action 
teams, employee engagement and learning and 
development, as well as an increase in the number 
of divisional and full-staff meetings to share 
information about department-wide activities.
The department’s executive also committed to 
timely follow-up on the teams’ recommendations 
regarding employee recognition, learning and 
development, and flexible work arrangements. 

The department’s management will undertake 
one-on-one meetings with all staff to ensure all 
employees understand how their work contributes 
to achieving the department’s business plan. 

The five indicators related to key corporate 
activities reflected the department’s desire to achieve 
the objectives in the Government of Alberta’s 
Corporate Human Resource Development Strategy. 
This provided insight into key determinants 
of employee satisfaction that may impact the 
department’s ability to engage its employees 
and hence, their contributions to organizational 
productivity. This measure is continued in the 
2006–09 business plan.



52 Alberta Innovation and Science Annual Report 2005–06

Goal 1
Measure 1.a: Percentage of Government 
of Alberta expense used to support 
innovation.
Innovation is comprised of science and technology 
as well as other sources of new ideas that lead to 
new and improved products and services. Science 
and technology is also comprised of research and 
development and related science activities, which 
are reported annually by all Government of Alberta 
departments in a Statistics Canada report. The 
Ministry of Innovation and Science introduced 
the Innovation and Service Excellence Program in 
2004, the first year in which this expense appears. 
Two line items are used from financial statements 
in Alberta Economic Development’s annual reports. 
The Innovative Energy Technology Program in 
Alberta Energy supports the adoption and use 

Methodology — Performance Measures

of innovative energy technologies. It provides 
royalty adjustments to a number of specific pilot 
and demonstration projects that use innovative 
technologies to increase recoveries from existing 
reserves and encourage responsible development of 
oil, natural gas and in-situ oil sands reserves.

For the purposes of this measure, the royalty 
adjustment is treated equivalent to, and reported 
as if it were, a Government of Alberta expense. 
The actual total expense for the provincial 
government is the line item total expense found in 
the consolidated statement of operations published 
in the Government of Alberta annual report and 
also presented in the executive summary. The most 
recent data is used, hence the total expense data for 
fiscal year 2001–02 is the re-stated value from the 
2002–03 annual report, and the total expense data 
for fiscal year 2002–03 is the re-stated value from 
2003–04 annual report.

2000–01 2001–02 2002–03 2003–04 2004–05

Innovation as % GOA 
spending

1.50% 1.63% 1.71% 1.54% 1.60%

Statistics Canada $263,794 $317,744 $333,421 $313,546 $362,593

Innovation and Service 
Excellence Program

- - - - $737

Alberta Economic 
Development Investment 
and Trade

$14,658 $14,381 $12,302 $16,255 $13,490

Alberta Economic 
Development Industry and 
Regional Development

$7,414 $7,352 $7,305 $7,918 $9,847

Alberta Energy Innovative 
Energy Technology 
Program

- - - - $2,246

TOTAL Innovation $285,866 $339,477 $353,028 $337,719 $388,913

GOA Expense $19,038,000 $20,865,000 $20,685,000 $21,883,000 $24,329,000
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Measure 1.b: Number of Albertans 
employed in knowledge-intensive  
(high-tech) companies.
Alberta Economic Development purchases Labour 
Force Survey data for each calendar year from 
Statistics Canada. Alberta Economic Development 
reviews the data and sends it to the Ministry of 
Innovation and Science in the original form.

Results are based on the Statistics Canada Labour 
Force Survey for calendar year 2005. Only annual 
averages appear in this measure. The margin of 
error with provincial annual averages is consistent 
with a coefficient of variation of between 
10 per cent and 15 per cent. Detailed information 
about the methodology and data accuracy for the 
survey can be found in the Guide to the Labour 
Force Survey.

Alberta employment information was obtained 
from Statistics Canada using pre-determined 
NAICS codes. Ministry staff worked with Alberta 
Economic Development and consulted with 
Statistics Canada to develop a comprehensive 
definition of the knowledge-intensive (high-tech) 
sector, based on NAICS codes. This ensures that the 
data is specific and comparable from year to year.

Measure 1.c: Albertans employed 
in knowledge-intensive (high-tech) 
companies as a percentage of Albertans 
employed in all companies.
The same sources and data are used as described 
in measure 2 “Number of Albertans employed in 
knowledge-intensive (high-tech) companies”. In 
addition, the total employment was obtained for 
each year and the percentage was calculated.

Measure 1.d: Percentage of Canadian 
venture capital invested in Alberta.
The Ministry obtains data from the VCAnalyst 
database, a subscription-based service provided by 
Thompson MacDonald Ltd. (a private company 
considered the premier source of venture capital 
information in Canada). The source data from 
Thompson MacDonald is dynamic with additional 
data relevant to a period added continually as it 
becomes known.

The method for reporting this measure has changed 
from a fiscal year to a calendar year to allow 
more time for deals to be entered in the database. 
The method was also changed to better reflect 
investment in knowledge-based businesses.

Measure 1.e: Alberta Business 
Expenditures on Research and 
Development.
The data is gathered annually by Statistics Canada 
using surveys of business. The report is Science 
Statistics Vol. 29 No. 8, Total spending on research 
and development in Canada, 1990 to 2005, and 
provinces, 1990 to 2003, released December 
9, 2005 catalogue no. 88-001-XIE2005006. 
The specific report providing the data used is 
available at: www.statcan.ca:8096/bsolc/english/
bsolc?catno=88-001-X20050088979. 

The data was obtained from page 7, the Funding 
portion of Table 7: R&D expenditures in the 
provinces by business enterprise, in terms of 
performing and funding, 1990 to 2003, in the 
column labeled “Alberta.”.

Statistics Canada obtains research and development 
data from research performers. The data is then 
presented in terms of performing and funding. The 
performing view of the data presents how much 
money the performing entity spent regardless of 
who provided the money. The funding view of the 
data presents who provided the money regardless of 
which performing entity spent it.
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Goal 2
Measure 2.a: Total sponsored 
research revenue attracted by Alberta 
universities.
This measure provides the value of sponsored 
research at Alberta universities. The funding sources 
include the provincial government, industry and 
non-profit organizations and the federal 
government.

Sponsored research revenues are those received 
outside of the university regular operating grant 
and include both research grants and research 
contracts. This performance measure reflects 
research capability in Alberta through the success 
of its major universities in attracting sponsored 
research funding from several sources. The data are 
provided to the Ministry of Innovation and Science 
by the University of Alberta, University of Calgary, 
University of Lethbridge and Athabasca University.

The universities submit the data using a template 
and guidelines that outline the information required 
and specific instructions regarding how the 
revenue should be reported. This ensures that the 
data submitted is comparable across universities. 
The universities derive the data from financial 
statements and supplementary schedules. The 
reported data are compiled and organized by the 
Ministry Innovation and Science in the Research 
Funding at Alberta Universities Report.

Measure 2.b: Total sponsored research 
revenue attracted by Alberta technical 
institutes and colleges.
The data, provided annually, is based on financial 
reports provided by colleges and technical institutes 
to the Ministry of Advanced Education. The data 
was generated by a review of those financials for 
any identifiable sponsored or contract research 
revenue. Alberta colleges and technical institutes 
that contributed to this measure in 2005–06 were 
the Alberta College of Art and Design, Lethbridge 
Community College, and Olds College. There is 

a one-year lag in the data, as the year-end for the 
colleges and technical institutes is June 30. For 
the 2005–06 annual report, the most recent data 
available is for 2004–05.

Given that the data used was not intended for 
this purpose, it is possible that the reported actual 
underestimates sponsored or contract research 
revenue. To address this issue, the Ministry is 
developing a more systematic approach to identifying 
sponsored or contract research revenue from colleges 
and technical institutes.

Goal 3
Measure 3.a: Ratio of private and other 
public investments in energy research 
to Government of Alberta (GOA) 
investments in energy research.
The ratio is based on investments over the life of 
the research agreement rather than expenditures 
in a single year, as multi-year agreements often 
have different payment schedules. Higher or lower 
expenditures in one year can affect the leverage ratio 
results. By calculating over the life of the project, 
greater consistency is achieved. While in-kind costs 
from other research participants can be significant, 
further work is required to establish consistency in 
how these costs are calculated before they can be 
included in the leverage ratio. The costs for strategic 
program area research managers are excluded. ARC 
contributions are also excluded because they are 
considered in-kind, since it is a research performer. 
Also, ARC receives funding from many sources and 
the ability to report project funding by source of 
funds is not in place. 

The Ministry of Innovation and Science obtains 
data from active research agreements and enters it 
into the SIR database. Information is added after 
research agreements are signed and updated or 
when the agreements are amended or more recent 
information becomes available from annual reports, 
etc. The summary reports from the SIR database were 
generated in August 2006 to calculate the ratio.
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Measure 3.b:
Non-GOA investment in energy research:

• Non-GOA investment through existing programs 
(in millions)

• Non-GOA investment through EnergyINet  
(in millions.)

GOA Investment in energy research:

• GOA investment through existing programs  
(in millions)

• GOA investment through EnergyINet  
(in millions).

Same as above, but the measure is based on fiscal 
year expenditures for grants, which can often 
vary from year to year. Grant agreements are 
typically multi-year in nature, and the amount of 
expenditure by the Government of Alberta will 
vary depending on the terms of the agreement. 
The non-Government of Alberta portion is 
calculated on a yearly basis by dividing the amount 
of the contribution by the number of years of 
the agreement.

Measure 3.c: Growth of EnergyINet - 
number of participating organizations.
The operations manager for EnergyINet 
supplied the data. All paid memberships from 
October 2005 to March 2006 were included. A 
list of current members is available at  
www.energyinet.com. However, the current list may 
vary from the numbers reported for 2005–06. The 
membership numbers are backed up by invoices and 
deposits to the EnergyINet bank account.

Goal 4
Measure 4.a: Total number of ICT 
researchers and graduate students 
attracted to Alberta universities by 
iCORE Inc.
The data in this measure is based upon the active 
contracts that iCORE has with the universities to 
fund major awards and graduate student awards. 
The measure was modified by adding the number of 
new awards in the fiscal year. Previously, only active 
awards were reported. Based on audit feedback, the 
wording in the measure was revised to clearly reflect 
that it is awards, not people, that are counted.

iCORE also publishes a more detailed performance 
measure report with measures derived from the 
following sources:

• Detailed annual reports submitted by every 
research chair each June for the previous 
fiscal year, which include counts and details of 
approximately 25 reporting variables.

• Survey of all graduate student scholarship 
recipients (past and present) conducted by 
iCORE every summer, which looks at their 
education and employment status.

iCORE has board-approved criteria and processes 
for making graduate student awards. The board 
of directors or its proxy, the Internal Review 
Committee, approves award criteria. iCORE’s 
decisions on major awards are recorded in Internal 
Review Committee minutes. iCORE receives 
confirmation of graduate student eligibility from the 
students and verifies this with the universities.
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Measure 4.b: Ratio of private and other 
public investments in ICT research to 
GOA investments in ICT research.
The Ministry of Innovation and Science obtains 
data from active research agreements and enters it 
into the SIR database. Information is added after 
research agreements are signed and updated or 
when the agreements are amended or more recent 
information becomes available from annual reports. 
The summary reports from the SIR database were 
generated in August 2006 to calculate the ratio.

The ratio is calculated based on the combined 
data from the SIR database and iCORE. It is also 
based on investments over the life of the research 
agreement rather than expenditures in a single 
year, as multi-year agreements often have different 
payment schedules. Higher or lower expenditures 
in one year can affect the leverage ratio results. 
By calculating over the life of the project, greater 
consistency is achieved.

iCORE requires researchers that it funds to submit, 
by May 15 each year, an annual report for the 
previous fiscal year (April 1 to March 31). The 
annual report from researchers contains details on 
all the funding the researchers obtain including 
sources in addition to those where iCORE is a party 
and whether there is proof of the funding. The 
information is cross-validated with other sources 
(Canada Foundation for Innovation, Canada 
Research Chairs, ASRIP and Alberta Ingenuity). 
Careful attention is given to ensure that there is no 
double counting of other contributors in situations 
where iCORE and the Ministry of Innovation and 
Science fund the same project.

The divisions and entities that contribute data for 
this goal are iCORE, Innovation Implementation 
and the University Research and Strategic 
Investments branch. Contributions by AHFMR and 
Alberta Ingenuity are considered Government of 
Alberta funding when determining the ratio.

Measure 4.c: Non-GOA Investment in 
ICT research, and GOA Investment in 
ICT research.
This measure defines Government of Alberta 
investment in ICT research as including the 
Ministry of Innovation and Science, iCORE, 
Alberta Ingenuity and other provincial government 
departments. Non-Government of Alberta 
investment in ICT research does not include other 
Government of Alberta funding programs (such as 
Alberta Ingenuity or any in-kind contributions) but 
does include university contributions.

The data are derived from the SIR database and 
iCORE. iCORE collects annual reports from all of 
the researchers that it funds. Data gathered contains 
the funding source, years, total funding, funding per 
year and description of each contributor directed 
to each researcher. Data is entered into the SIR 
database from project contracts where projects 
figures and category assignments are reviewed 
for accuracy. Edit checks are performed during 
consolidation with iCORE data.

Goal 5
Measure 5.a: Ratio of private and other 
public investments in life sciences 
research to GOA investments in life 
sciences research.
The ratio is based on investments over the life of 
the research agreement rather than expenditures 
in a single year, as multi-year agreements often 
have different payment schedules. Higher or lower 
expenditures in one year can affect the leverage 
ratio results. By calculating over the life of the 
project, greater consistency is achieved. While 
in-kind costs from other research participants can 
be significant, further work is required to establish 
consistency in how these costs are calculated before 
they can be included in the leverage ratio. The costs 
for strategic program area research managers are 
excluded. ARC contributions are also excluded 
because they are considered in-kind since it is a 
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research performer. Also, ARC receives funding 
from many sources and the ability to report project 
funding by source of funds is not in place.

The Ministry of Innovation and Science obtains 
data from active research agreements and enters it 
into the SIR database. Information is added after 
research agreements are signed and updated or 
when the agreements are amended or more recent 
information becomes available from annual reports, 
etc. The summary reports from the SIR database 
were generated in August 2006 to calculate 
the ratio.

The divisions and entities that contribute data 
for this goal are AARI, AFRI, Innovation 
Implementation and the University Research and 
Strategic Investments branch. Contributions by 
AHFMR, Alberta Ingenuity and the Capital Health 
Authority are considered Government of Alberta 
funding when determining the ratio.

Measure 5.b: Non-GOA Investment in life 
sciences research, and GOA Investment 
in life sciences research.
Same as above, but the measure is based on fiscal 
year expenditures for grants that can often vary in 
expenditures from year to year. Grant agreements 
are typically multi-year in nature and the amount 
of expenditure by Government of Alberta will 
vary depending on the terms of the agreement. 
The non-Government of Alberta portion is 
calculated on a yearly basis by dividing the amount 
of the contribution by the number of years of 
the agreement.

Key Corporate Activities
Measure: Innovation and Science 
Employee Satisfaction and 
Understanding of Contribution
An external survey firm (Research Innovations Inc.) 
designs and administers all aspects of the survey 
in consultation with the Personnel Administration 
Office. Survey results are accurate within plus or 
minus five per cent at a 95 per cent confidence level.

The source document, Government of Alberta 2005 
Corporate Employee Survey: Results for Innovation 
and Science Employees (Research Innovations 
Inc.), will provide detailed information about the 
survey methodology.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of the Alberta Research Council Inc. 

I have audited the consolidated balance sheet of the Alberta Research Council Inc. as at 
March 31, 2006 and the consolidated statements of revenue and expense and operating equity and 
cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Alberta 
Research Council Inc.’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In my opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Alberta Research Council Inc. as at March 31, 2006 and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 

FCA 
Auditor General 

Edmonton, Alberta 
May 18, 2006 

The official version of this Report 
of the Auditor General, and the 
information the Report covers, is 
in printed form.

[Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA]
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

as at March 31, 2006

LeRoy Johnson, M.L.A. 
Wetaskiwin-Camrose 
Chair, Board of Directors

Jim Carter 
Chair, ARC Audit Committee

[Original Signed] [Original Signed]
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Statement of Revenue and Expense and Operating Equity

for the year ended March 31, 2006
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Alberta Research Council Inc.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements



Alberta Innovation and Science Annual Report 2005–06 111

for the year ended March 31, 2006

Alberta Research Council Inc.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
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Alberta Research Council Inc.

Consolidated Schedule of Allocated Costs(1)
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iCORE Inc.

Financial Statements
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iCORE Inc.

Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of iCORE Inc. 

I have audited the statement of financial position of iCORE Inc. as at March 31, 2006 and the 
statements of operations and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of iCORE Inc.’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of iCORE Inc. as at March 31, 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

FCA 
Auditor General 

Edmonton, Alberta 
May 5, 2006 

The official version of this Report 
of the Auditor General, and the 
information the Report covers, is 
in printed form.

[Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA]
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iCORE Inc.

Statement of Operations
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iCORE Inc.

Statement of Financial Position

as at March 31, 2006

[Original Signed][Original Signed]
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iCORE Inc.

Statement of Cash Flows
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iCORE Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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iCORE Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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iCORE Inc.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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iCORE Inc.

Board of Directors and Senior Executive Salaries and Benefits

.
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Auditor’s Report 

To the Trustees of the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research 

I have audited the consolidated statement of financial position of the Alberta Heritage 
Foundation for Medical Research as at March 31, 2006 and the consolidated statements of 
operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Foundation's management. My responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In my opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Foundation as at March 31, 2006 and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

FCA
Auditor General 

Edmonton, Alberta 
June 6, 2006

The official version of this Report 
of the Auditor General, and the 
information the Report covers, is 
in printed form.

[Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA]
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Gail Surkan 
Trustee

Richard Haskayne 
Trustee

as at March 31, 2006

[Original Signed] [Original Signed]
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Consolidated Statement of Operations
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Trustees of the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering 
Research

I have audited the statement of financial position of the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science 
and Engineering Research as at March 31, 2006 and the statements of operations, changes in net 
assets (liabilities), and cash flow for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Foundation's management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on my audit. 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Foundation as at March 31, 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

FCA
Auditor General 

Edmonton, Alberta 
June 13, 2006 

The official version of this Report 
of the Auditor General, and the 
information the Report covers, is 
in printed form.

[Original Signed by Fred J. Dunn, FCA]
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Statement of Financial Position

as at March 31, 2006

[Original Signed] [Original Signed]
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Statement of Operations
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets (Liabilities)



Alberta Innovation and Science Annual Report 2005–06 161

for the year ended March 31, 2006

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Statement of Cash Flow
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 

Schedule A

Consolidated Statement of Operations





Information on Alberta Heritage Foundations

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research 
(operating under the trade name Alberta Ingenuity)

Information in this section is unaudited
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AHFMR Act
The objects of the Foundation are to establish and 
support a balanced long-term program of Alberta-
based medical research directed to the discovery 
of new knowledge and the application of that 
knowledge to improve health and the quality of 
health services in Alberta.

AHFMR Goals  
(Outputs and Outcomes)
To maintain, strengthen or expand 
established programs and lead 
initiatives in health research in Alberta 

Personnel Support
• For the competition year 2005–06, new awards 

granted over the next five-year period in various 
areas of health research totalled $48.0 million to 
63 researchers. 

• Key basic research areas include: heart disease, 
stroke, allergies, diabetes, chronic lung disease, 
nerve cells and stress.

• AHFMR awarded $5.3 million to 10 health 
researchers working in such areas as binge 
drinking, frail seniors, kidney disease and 
disease surveillance.

• In 2005–06 AHFMR provided funding to 
almost 500 researchers-in-training, ranging 
from high school students to young clinician-
scientists. Total funding for these programs was 
approximately $6.3 million.

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR)

Partnerships and Initiatives that provide 
additional financial resources
In fall of 2004, Alberta Health and Wellness 
extended its contract with AHFMR for 
administration of the Health Collaboration 
Agreement. At the end of the current two-year 
extension, a decision will be made regarding a 
renewal of the agreement. 

Programs in this agreement include:

Health Research Fund

• For the competition year 2005–06,  
19 researchers received offers of Health 
Research Fund awards totaling $1.4 million 
over two years. The Health Research Fund is 
administered by AHFMR on behalf of Alberta 
Health and Wellness. 

• A further $1.0 million was released to 
20 researchers conducting on-going projects 
approved in last year’s competition. Research 
projects funded in 2005 include: an assessment 
of rehabilitation services for children with 
cerebral palsy; how computer technology can 
better help nurses; perception of back pain; 
reducing complications of catheterized patients; 
effectiveness of bed rest in preventing pre-term 
birth; and Alberta’s preparedness for a public 
health threat.

• AHFMR’s Health Research Agenda continues to 
guide AHFMR in allocating the most effective 
and efficient support for health research 
throughout the province.
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Health Technology Assessment

• AHFMR’s Health Technology Assessment (HTA) 
Unit produced the following assessments: 

o Protocols for Stillbirth Investigation,  
October 2005;

o Gastric Electrical Stimulation (Enterra™ 
Therapy system) for the Treatment of 
Gastroparesis, January 2006; and

o Strategies to reduce emergency department 
overcrowding, February 2006.

• Technotes on the following topics were 
completed: 

o COX-2 inhibitors (etoricoxib) for the 
treatment of non malignant chronic low back 
pain, April 2005;

o Advance directives and health care costs at the 
end of life, July 2005;

o Image-guided vacuum-assisted breast biopsy 
for suspicious, non-palpable breast lesions, 
July 2005

o COX-2 inhibitors for dysmenorrhea, August 
2005; and

o Prognostic value of B-type natriuretic peptide 
for congestive heart failure, November 2005.

• Four information papers were completed on the 
following topics: 

o Health Technology Assessment on the Net: 
A Guide to Internet Sources of Information, 
Seventh edition, June 2005;

o Celecoxib for the treatment of pain in 
osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis,  
May 2005;

o Cost estimation of point of care B-type 
natriuretic peptide for the diagnosis of 
heart failure in the emergency department: 
application to Alberta, May 2005; and

o Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding for 
the treatment of clinically severe (morbid) 
obesity in adults: an update, May 2005.

• Seven Health Technology Initiatives to encourage 
the use of evidence to inform policy and decision 
making in the Alberta health care system were 
produced:

o An exploratory review of evaluations of 
health technology assessment agencies, 
February 2006; 

o The triangle of enhancement medicine, 
disabled people, and the concept of health: a 
new challenge for HTA, health research, and 
health policy, December 2005;

o Institutional medical incident medical 
reporting systems: a review, August 2005;

o Bridging the gap: the use of research evidence 
in policy development, September 2005;

o Risk management for health technology 
assessment, May 2005;

o Consumer involvement in health technology 
assessment, December 2005; and

o A reference guide for learning from incidents 
in radiation treatment, January 2006. 

• Two issues of the newsletter Tech-Wise were 
produced: Issue 26, August 2005 and Issue 27, 
March 2006. 
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Applied Health Research Programs

The Applied Health Research Programs portfolio 
of the Foundation delivers and supports programs 
to increase capacity across the health care delivery 
system for the production and use of locally 
relevant research.

• On April 1, 2005 the Swift Efficient Application 
of Research in Community Health (SEARCH) 
Program was established as an independent 
not-for-profit corporation, jointly funded and 
governed by AHFMR, Alberta’s nine health 
authorities and the University of Calgary, 
with funding in part from Alberta Health 
and Wellness through the Health Research 
Collaboration. 

• The Community Research Ethics Board of 
Alberta (CREBA), pioneered by AHFMR to 
ensure access to ethics review for research 
across the province, met monthly, reviewed 
13 protocols from rural regions, independent 
practitioners and contract researchers and 
provided guidance and referral to novice 
researchers across the province. CREBA also 
provided consultation to other jurisdictions on 
development of the community-based model 
of research ethics boards. The foundation 
continued to lead the Alberta Research Ethics 
Community Consensus Initiative (ARECCI), a 
collaboration of Alberta research ethics boards, 
health authorities and other stakeholders. Its 
focus was on piloting and refining the ARECCI 
recommendations and tools for determining the 
appropriate type, level and process for ethics 
review of certain types of knowledge-generating 
activities (i.e., research, quality improvement and 
program evaluation). ARECCI’s aim is to protect 
people while supporting worthwhile projects that 
benefit the community and society. 

• The Research Transfer Network of Alberta 
(RTNA), established in 2002, is a province-
wide network that undertakes activities to 
strengthen the use of research to improve health 
practices and policies in Alberta. The network 
now has more than 300 members from a variety 
of professions, organizations and locations 
throughout Alberta. The RTNA presented five 
videoconference sessions that involved 10 to 
15 sites province-wide and attracted an average 
of 55 participants per session. The most recent 
session on integrating new practices into a 
multidisciplinary team attracted 120 participants. 
The network also sponsored members to 
attend selected conferences on knowledge and 
research transfer in Alberta and across Canada. 
Knowledge from those conference experiences 
is captured on the RTNA web site and available 
to all members. The RTNA launched a new web 
site this year and piloted a successful on-line 
discussion. An environmental scan of support 
for research transfer in Western Canada has been 
completed and a survey of RTNA members is in 
the data analysis stage. The results of both these 
activities will inform strategic planning for the 
network in the coming years. 

• Six new health researchers received independent 
investigator awards through Population Health 
Investigator and Health Scholar funding. This 
brings the total of investigators supported in 
health services and population health research 
to 42.

To maintain research education and 
training programs and encourage young 
Albertans to pursue research careers

• Over $6.3 million was awarded in fellowships, 
clinical fellowships, studentships and summer 
studentships to 500 researchers-in-training.

• The Lionel McLeod scholarship was awarded 
to University of British Columbia PhD student 
Calvin Yip for his studies in antibiotic resistance.
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• AHFMR offered the sixth Heritage Youth 
Research Summer Program in 2005, which 
gave 45 of the brightest high school students 
a summer research experience working and 
learning in Heritage and other labs at the 
Universities of Calgary, Alberta and Lethbridge. 
Students for this program came from all over the 
province.

To encourage increased collaboration in 
Alberta, Canada and elsewhere among 
investigators, research institutions, 
governments, other granting agencies 
and the private sector

• AHFMR continued to contribute to the 
Canada Research Chairs through stipend and 
infrastructure funding contributions ($2.5 
million over five years) based on amounts funded 
by Canada Foundation for Innovation and 
other partners.

• AHFMR participated in and sponsored several 
workshops and events and contributed to the 
development of a national network of linkage 
and exchange in applied health research and 
its use in decision-making (e.g. the Inukshuk 
Conference: Fetal and Early Childhood 
Development for Optimal Health, November 
13-15, 2005; Health Canada conference on 
child health and the environment in March 
2006). AHFMR is working with the Canadian 
Health Services Research Foundation, the 
Health Services Utilization and Research 
Commission and other organizations in 
developing models for research transfer capacity 
in health organizations.

• AHFMR hosted school and public lectures  
around the province featuring AHFMR 
researchers.

• AHFMR co-hosted, along with other provincial 
agencies, the Alberta visit of two Gairdner 
Award winners.

• AHFMR senior staff serve on advisory 
committees and boards of other organizations 
such as the Alberta Science and Technology 
Leadership Foundation, the Alberta Science and 
Research Authority, and the Alberta Centre for 
Child, Family and Community Health.

To continue to promote the development 
of health research-related economic 
activities in Alberta, including the 
commercialization of innovations 

• The Technology Commercialization (TC) 
Program committed nearly $1.6 million in 
project and internship funding during the 
year. Mentoring and access to expertise for 
applicants continue to be strong components of 
the program. 

• The TC Program enhanced its support for 
people and industry by piloting an Executive-in-
Residence (EIR) award in partnership with TEC 
Edmonton. The EIR will work with university 
start-up companies to lead, direct and implement 
a broad range of commercialization activities. 

• AHFMR continued to develop the TC Internship 
Program (TCIP) through active recruitment of 
industry receptors.  TC Interns receive training 
in a broad spectrum of commercialization 
activities including: market analysis/intelligence, 
technology transfer, business development, 
product development and intellectual property 
management. As part of the 10-year anniversary 
activities for the TCIP, AHFMR commissioned a 
third-party evaluation of the program’s activities 
and outcomes. This report will be available to 
the public in June 2006. 

• AHFMR participated in and sponsored several 
TC-related workshops and forums including a 
competitive intelligence workshop moderated 
by leading expert Dr. Jonathan Calof of the 
University of Ottawa. TC funding recipients and 
interns attended the workshop.

• AHFMR continues to develop in-depth case 
studies to document experiences of previously 
supported researchers and entrepreneurs. 
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• AHFMR worked to strengthen capacity 
by facilitating researcher education in 
entrepreneurship and collaborating with economic 
development agencies and venture capitalists.

• AHFMR was a patron of the 2005 
ASTech awards.

AHFMR Goals (Resources, 
processes, procedures)
To maintain international standards of 
excellence through an appropriate and 
effective peer review system

• As of March 31, 2006, AHFMR funded 235 
researchers and 287 researchers-in-training at the 
University of Alberta, the University of Calgary, 
and the University of Lethbridge. A small number 
of awards are held by Albertans outside of this 
province for training in some of the world’s most 
prestigious laboratories. 

• Additional mental health and health services 
researchers receive funding through Alberta 
Health and Wellness’ Health Research Fund, 
administered by AHFMR. 

• All awards to personnel are made according to 
the highest international criteria for excellence. 
To fulfil this purpose, more than 500 reviewers 
from all over the world provide AHFMR with 
their reviews or sit on one of 17 AHFMR 
standing peer review advisory committees for 
awards competitions. 

• AHFMR requires annual reporting on all awards.

• AHFMR’s Impact Analysis Division evaluates 
the impact and outcomes of the foundation’s 
activities. 

• During 2005–06 two health technology 
assessment reports were produced and both were 
externally peer-reviewed prior to publication.

• AHFMR began a strategic framework 
development process in response to the 2004 
International Board of Review report and 
stakeholder consultations in order to chart new 
directions enabled by the provincial government’s 
commitment to an additional $500 million to the 
AHFMR endowment.

To manage expenditures to ensure 
the continuance of AHFMR for future 
generations while avoiding significant 
fluctuations in annual spending 

• The AHFMR endowment was created in 1980 
with $300 million. As of March 31, 2006 the 
value of the endowment has quadrupled from 
that original amount, due to the provincial 
government’s transfer to the endowment of $300 
million (as part of the $500 million addition 
committed in 2005).

• The cumulative AHFMR investment in the 
province for biomedical and health research since 
1980 now totals over $850 million. 

• AHFMR has quarterly meetings with Alberta 
Revenue as well as annual meetings between 
Alberta Revenue and AHFMR’s board of 
trustees. Alberta Revenue manages AHFMR’s 
endowment.

• Transfers from the endowment were $50 million 
during 2005–06.

To maintain and improve communication 
with the public, government, the 
research community, universities and 
health-related institutions
2005 marked the 25th anniversary of AHFMR. 
New programs and activities were undertaken 
to mark this special year, which was also the 
province’s centennial. 

• A television advertising series was produced 
with eight ads highlighting AHFMR research 
in specific health areas. These aired throughout 
2005 across the province.
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• AHFMR planned and convened the  
first-ever Inukshuk Conference in Fetal and Early 
Childhood Development for Optimal Health, 
in November of 2005. Experts from around the 
globe gathered in Kananaskis to discuss strategies 
and directions that might be undertaken. A 
conference summary is being prepared and 
will be distributed to policy makers and health 
research agencies around the world.

• A traveling lecturer series was undertaken 
throughout 2005. AHFMR and other 
researchers traveled to smaller centres to deliver 
presentations to school age and public audiences 
on popular health topics.

• AHFMR publications included the award-
winning quarterly magazine AHFMR 
Research News, the AHFMR Community 
Report (in the form of a 2006 calendar with 
financial highlights) and health technology 
assessment reports.

• The AHFMR web site is continually monitored 
and maintained for currency.

• AHFMR monthly news bulletins to MLAs 
were produced.

• AHFMR media work highlights research 
accomplishments of funded personnel on a 
monthly basis.

• AHFMR distributed a flyer promoting the 2006 
calendar through seven daily newspapers, the 
waiting rooms of all physicians in the province 
and to people on a 24,000-name mailing list.

• AHFMR supported two science students as 
media fellows, one with CBC radio in Edmonton, 
and the other with CBC radio in Calgary.

• AHFMR supported the Alberta Science 
Fair program with prize money for seven 
regional winners.

• AHFMR participated in, and was a major 
sponsor of, the Alberta Teachers’ Association 
Science Council Conference in November.

• AHFMR, in collaboration with the Faculty 
of Medicine and Dentistry at the University 
of Alberta, the Faculty of Medicine at the 
University of Calgary, Alberta Cancer Board 
and Alberta Cancer Foundation, sponsored 
the visit to Alberta in October of two Gairdner 
Award winners.

• AHFMR sponsored events organized by other 
research agencies and university departments 
intended to highlight health research.

To regularly review and update AHFMR’s 
future plans and priorities

• AHFMR’s board of trustees meets quarterly 
to review planning and directions. In 2005 the 
trustees approved a strategic planning process 
for the foundation with results to be announced 
in 2006.

• AHFMR senior staff consult regularly with 
AHFMR advisory committees composed of 
members of the research community about 
funding recommendations and program 
planning and directions (e.g. Scientific Advisory 
Committee, Health Advisory Committee, 
Program Advisory Committee).

• An International Board of Review, which 
AHFMR is legislated to organize every six 
years, was convened in June of 2004 to review 
AHFMR’s activities and recommend directions. 
A report was issued, applauding AHFMR’s 
record of successes, in early fall of 2004. The 
next International Board of Review will be 
convened in 2010.
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Key Factors Affecting Performance
AHFMR performance is based on its primary 
function of funding health research. The number 
of proposals submitted and the quality of 
applications are main determining factors in any 
of the competitions for awards, as is the amount 
of money available annually from a portion of the 
AHFMR endowment interest. Since AHFMR works 
in partnership with the province’s universities to 
recruit and pay salaries of researchers, initiatives 
on the part of the universities play a large part 
in recruiting the best and brightest researchers to 
Alberta. Alberta Regional Health Authorities are 
key contributors to the development of health 
research capacity throughout the province through 
their endorsement of, support for and contribution 
to the SEARCH program and other AHFMR 
applied health research initiatives. In June 2004, an 
International Board of Review endorsed AHFMR’s 
directions and activities and confirmed AHFMR’s 
seminal role in the province in establishing and 
continuing to build a first-class research community. 

Anticipated Changes or 
New Directions 
The establishment, over the past 26 years, of a 
top quality research community and brain trust 
in Alberta is attracting funding from outside 
sources at a rate of $2 to $3 for every AHFMR 
dollar invested. AHFMR seeks out and initiates 
new opportunities for matching funding and for 
collaborative ventures with other provincial and 
national funding bodies. AHFMR also seeks out 
opportunities to expand its research portfolio and 
bridge the gap between the generation of knowledge 
through health research results and its application 
to improve health and the effectiveness of the 
health system. 

In early 2005, AHFMR embarked on a strategic 
planning process, the results of which will be used 
to develop a framework for making choices about 
strategic directions that will best maximize the 

foundation’s investments, exploit new opportunities 
in health research, maximize existing and new 
partnerships, help realize goals of the provincial 
government, and ultimately result in the most 
beneficial impact for the health and well-being 
of Albertans. 

Changes Needed to 
Measure Performance 
Currently, universal mechanisms for measuring 
comprehensive, overall performance in medical 
and health research and the impact of that 
research in socioeconomic terms do not exist. 
AHFMR carefully tracks the usual scientific 
metrics of publications, citations and career 
performance. Other measures, such as case 
studies, are highlighted in AHFMR’s publications. 
AHFMR actively seeks opportunities that would 
assist in measuring the impact of investment on 
research. AHFMR has created an internal impact 
analysis unit to develop and apply appropriate 
methodology to gauge the impact and effectiveness 
of AHFMR’s activities. AHFMR’s internal impact 
analysis framework relates to both program and 
performance monitoring as well as medium- and 
long-term outcome evaluation of AHFMR activities.

The Alberta Foundation for 
Health Research
The Alberta Foundation for Health Research 
(AFHR) is a wholly owned subsidiary and 
registered charity that was incorporated in 1994 as 
a mechanism to receive unsolicited donations for 
health research projects aligned with AHFMR goals 
and meeting the same high standard of excellence. 
To date, approximately $620,000 has been received 
and two awards have been made: the A Window on 
the Brain project at the University of Calgary and 
a postdoctoral award at the Faculty of Nursing, 
University of Alberta. 
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Key Activities/Outcomes  
for 2005–06
Alberta Ingenuity operates the Alberta Heritage 
Foundation for Science and Engineering Research, 
a $1.0 billion endowment established by the 
Government of Alberta in 2000 to create and 
harness research expertise in carefully chosen areas. 
Through programs that support highest caliber 
research, Alberta Ingenuity is building Alberta’s 
science community in areas with significant social 
impact and of strategic importance to Alberta.

Goal 1: To foster an innovative, value-
added economy in Alberta through 
investment in people who exemplify 
excellence and are working in areas of 
strategic importance to Alberta
Alberta Ingenuity is positioned to be an active 
catalyst in the development of a value-added 
economy in the province of Alberta. A strong 
increase in the foundation’s endowment will allow 
the fund to provide the province’s knowledge-based 
companies and institutions of higher learning with 
more innovators and innovations.

In 2005–06, Alberta Ingenuity increased funding to 
new and existing recipients by $1.5 million from the 
previous year, bringing the total to $15.3 million. 
This expansion growth symbolizes the strength 
and growth of the endowment and reflects a clear 
strategic focus on new programs that will target the 
creation of top-quality research teams in areas of 
strategic importance to Alberta. 

Alberta Ingenuity initiatives facilitate excellence 
both in idea generation and in product 
development, and in the past year have 
demonstrated the following results:

Alberta Ingenuity Institutes:
• Alberta Ingenuity manages the Alberta Prion 

Research Institute to support research in the 
prevention and management of prion-related 
diseases, such as mad cow disease, scrapie 
and chronic wasting disease, and the serious 
economic and social consequences associated 
with these.

• In its first year, the Alberta Prion Research 
Institute created a top tier advisory council and 
management board, issued two calls for research 
proposals, developed an infrastructure plan and 
recruitment strategy and awarded more than 
$6 million in research funding.

• Strategic planning for the creation of additional 
Alberta Ingenuity Institutes, based on the 
success of the Prion Institute model, was actively 
developed in 2005–06.

Alberta Ingenuity Centres:
• Alberta Ingenuity continues to support four 

internationally recognized Alberta Ingenuity 
Centres. In 2005–06, approximately $5.7 million 
was committed to the ongoing achievements of 
these centres, which include: Alberta Ingenuity 
Centre for Carbohydrate Science, Alberta 
Ingenuity Centre for Machine Learning, Alberta 
Ingenuity Centre for Water Research and Alberta 
Ingenuity Centre for In Situ Energy. 

• Significant achievements within the Alberta 
Centres Program in 2005–06 include: 113 
new investigators recruited to Alberta, nearly 
$1.0 million from industry partners, and 121 
graduate students engaged. This program was 
also responsible for the production of seven 
licenses and patents. In addition, this year saw 
the redevelopment of the centres’ management 
advisory boards to include a greater degree of 
community or industrial integration.

Alberta Ingenuity
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• A new call for centre proposals was also 
initiated. This resulted in Alberta Ingenuity 
receiving 17 letters of intent for new centres, of 
which six were asked to develop full proposals 
for consideration. The selection of an additional 
centre will be finalized by summer of  
2006–07. 

New Faculty and Fellows:
• $1.2 million funding was awarded to 11 

rising stars at Alberta universities through the 
New Faculty Award program. This program 
allows talented young researchers to establish 
research teams at Alberta universities, thereby 
strengthening the research capabilities in the 
areas of strategic importance to Alberta.

• Approximately $1.8 million in new funding for 
Alberta Ingenuity Fellows was approved for 
top postdoctoral fellows. This program is being 
rolled into the New Faculty Awards program, 
to provide rising stars a more powerful start in 
the establishment of research teams with strong 
roots in Alberta. 

Industrial Associates:
• Alberta Ingenuity plans to double the size of this 

program, which places researchers in positions 
at the leading edge of applied research in an 
industrial setting, where they can make an 
immediate and evident difference. This program 
is also an effective aid for start-up and infant 
technology-based companies who gain research 
expertise at a relatively low cost due to the 
infusion of knowledge provided through the 
program setup and funding. 

• Six competitions were held, resulting in 
approximately $2.45 million in new funding 
commitments for 2005–06. There are currently 
64 research associates, an increase of 15 from 
2004–2005, working on new ideas, processes 
and products in Alberta. To date, 71 companies 
have benefited from this fuel for innovation. 

Students:
• Approximately $3.3 million in funding supported 

283 students in 2005–06. Those supported are 
the top science and engineering graduate students 
in the country, studying at an Alberta university. 
This program has been reviewed to ensure that it 
remains a strong and effective tool for the much-
needed recruitment of excellent international 
students to Alberta. 

Goal 2: To exemplify excellence in 
strategic areas
• Alberta Ingenuity is advised by the Science and 

Engineering Advisory Council, an international 
group of research experts and leaders from 
broad areas, such as the commercialization 
of innovations, technology and policy, which 
provides strategic advice on program design and 
implementation. 

• A network of expert peer reviewers, from both 
industry and academia, ensures that Alberta 
Ingenuity funding is provided to only the 
very best researchers. Provincial, national and 
international reviewers either participate in a 
review committee or provide expert advice in a 
written assessment. 

Goal 3: To encourage and enhance 
innovation in industry

• The primary objective of the Alberta Ingenuity 
Centres program is to mobilize Alberta’s science 
and engineering research talent in the academic, 
private and public sectors and apply it to the task 
of developing Alberta’s economy and improving 
the quality of life of Canadians. The centres 
train highly qualified personnel and encourage 
collaborations between Alberta industry and 
these personnel to promote the discovery and 
subsequent commercialization of research results. 

• The aim of the Industrial Associates program is 
to increase the competitive advantage of Alberta-
based companies through injection of excellent 
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research talent into innovative product, process or 
service development initiatives, so as to encourage 
the development of a more diversified Alberta 
economy. The plans to double this program 
demonstrate Alberta Ingenuity’s commitment to 
enhanced innovation in Alberta industry. 

• Alberta Ingenuity has also increased its 
commitment to the internship program delivered 
in Alberta through Mathematics of Information 
Technology and Complex Systems (MITACS). 
In partnership with Western Economic 
Diversification Canada, Alberta Ingenuity 
supported 12 students working as interns in 
Alberta companies in 2005–06. As a result of 
the success of the program, and of the growing 
recognition of mathematics as a new driver of 
innovation, plans to double this program in 
2006–07 are in place. 

Goal 4: To champion science and 
engineering research in the community
• In November 2005, Alberta Ingenuity launched 

the annual Alberta Ingenuity Lectures to 
introduce the broader research community and 
the public to inspirational leaders of innovation 
and excellence in research. This year’s guest 
lecturer was Bill Buxton, principle researcher with 
Microsoft Research. 

• Alberta Ingenuity is the primary sponsor and 
program director of the new Banff Science 
Communications program, a premiere 
international program for fostering excellence in 
science communications. 

• Alberta Ingenuity provided media relations 
training through workshops and master classes to 
over 400 Alberta researchers.

• Alberta Ingenuity is a patron of the foremost 
Alberta science and engineering awards events. 

• Alberta Ingenuity launched a series of science 
cafes for both MLAs and the general public, 
which bring science topics to broader audiences 
for discussion. 

Goal 5: To build partnerships in 
research education and training that 
develop a science culture and interest 
in science careers
• Alberta Ingenuity increased its sponsorship 

of science and engineering camps for Alberta 
students at the University of Alberta, University 
of Calgary and University of Lethbridge, as well 
as special science-focused programs aimed at 
engaging youth in science career options. 

• Alberta Ingenuity launched the development 
of several initiatives that will enhance the 
professional development for the specialization 
of science teachers and fuel interest in future 
science careers among students. Initiatives 
included support for the Alberta Ingenuity 
Summer Teachers’ Institute.

• Alberta Ingenuity continues to participate in, 
and be a major sponsor of, the Alberta Teachers’ 
Association’s annual Science Council Conference. 

Goal 6: To be responsible stewards 
of the endowment and manage 
expenditures effectively

• At the end of the 2005–06 fiscal year, the value 
of the endowment had increased more than $166 
million over the previous year and now sits at 
approximately $716 million. While the value of 
the endowment continues to grow, operational 
costs remain low. This dynamic ensures a 
continued increase in the return on investment of 
Alberta Ingenuity funds. 

• A provincial government-appointed board of 
trustees, chaired by Alvin Libin of Calgary, 
governs Alberta Ingenuity. This board consists 
of 12 trustees, six of whom are nominated 
representatives of educational institutions and 
professional organizations, the other six of 
whom represent the general public. 
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• The board of trustees is responsible for the 
approval of the Alberta Ingenuity annual 
budget and spending. This ensures that Alberta 
Ingenuity expenditures fall within legislated 
guidelines.

• Management of the endowment is currently 
the responsibility of Alberta Finance, with all 
transfers from the endowment requiring board of 
trustee approval. 

Anticipated Changes or 
New Directions
• In 2005–06, the Legislative Assembly approved 

the Access to the Future Act that provided an 
additional $500 million for the endowment, of 
which $100 million was realized.

• Alberta Ingenuity is poised to show leadership in 
addressing national and international challenges. 
By creating large-scale research enterprises 
focused on areas of strategic importance, these 
research innovation and commercialization 
accelerators will dramatically impact Alberta’s 
success and prosperity in the province 
throughout our next 100 years. 
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Entities Included in the Consolidated Government Reporting Entity

Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency Ministry Annual Report

Access to the Future Fund1 Advanced Education

Agriculture Financial Services Corporation
Agriculture, Food and 
Rural Development

Alberta Alcohol and Drug Abuse Commission Health and Wellness

Alberta Capital Finance Authority Finance

Alberta Energy and Utilities Board Energy

Alberta Foundation for the Arts Community Development

Alberta Gaming and Liquor Commission Gaming

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Endowment Fund Finance

Alberta Heritage Savings Trust Fund Finance

Alberta Heritage Scholarship Fund Finance

Alberta Heritage Science and Engineering Research Endowment Fund Finance

Alberta Historical Resources Foundation Community Development

Alberta Insurance Council Finance

Alberta Local Authorities Pension Plan Corporation2 Finance

Alberta Pensions Administration Corporation Finance

Alberta Petroleum Marketing Commission Energy

Alberta Research Council Inc. Innovation and Science

Alberta Risk Management Fund Finance

Alberta School Foundation Fund Education

Alberta Science and Research Authority Innovation and Science

Alberta Securities Commission Finance

Alberta Social Housing Corporation Seniors and Community Supports

Alberta Sport, Recreation, Parks and Wildlife Foundation Community Development

Alberta Treasury Branches Finance

ATB Investment Management Inc. Finance

1 Established July 10, 2005.
2 Incorporated December 16, 2005.
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Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency Ministry Annual Report

ATB Investment Services Inc. Finance

ATB Services Inc. Finance

Child and Family Services Authorities: Children’s Services

Calgary and Area Child and Family Services Authority

Central Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

East Central Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Edmonton and Area Child and Family Services Authority

North Central Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Northeast Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Northwest Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Southeast Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Southwest Alberta Child and Family Services Authority

Metis Settlements Child and Family Services Authority

Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation Finance

Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development
Agriculture, Food and 
Rural Development

Department of Advanced Education Advanced Education

Department of Children’s Services Children’s Services

Department of Community Development Community Development

Department of Education Education

Department of Energy Energy

Department of Finance Finance

Department of Gaming Gaming

Department of Health and Wellness Health and Wellness

Department of Innovation and Science Innovation and Science

Department of Seniors and Community Supports Seniors and Community Supports

Department of Solicitor General and Public Security
Solicitor General and 
Public Security
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Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency Ministry Annual Report

Department of Sustainable Resource Development Sustainable Resource Development

Environmental Protection and Enhancement Fund Sustainable Resource Development

Gainers Inc. Finance

Government House Foundation Community Development

Historic Resources Fund Community Development

Human Rights, Citizenship and Multiculturalism Education Fund Community Development

iCORE Inc. Innovation and Science

Lottery Fund Gaming

Ministry of Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development3 Aboriginal Affairs and 
Northern  Development

Ministry of Advanced Education Advanced Education

Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development
Agriculture, Food and 
Rural Development

Ministry of Children’s Services Children’s Services

Ministry of Community Development Community Development

Ministry of Economic Development3 Economic Development

Ministry of Education Education

Ministry of Energy Energy

Ministry of Environment3 Environment

Ministry of Executive Council3 Executive Council

Ministry of Finance Finance

Ministry of Gaming Gaming

Ministry of Government Services3 Government Services

Ministry of Health and Wellness Health and Wellness

Ministry of Human Resources and Employment3 Human Resources and Employment

Ministry of Infrastructure and Transportation3 Infrastructure and Transportation

3 Ministry includes only the departments so separate departmental financial statements are not necessary.
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Ministry, Department, Fund or Agency Ministry Annual Report

Ministry of Innovation and Science Innovation and Science

Ministry of International and Intergovernmental Relations3 International and  
Intergovernmental Relations

Ministry of Justice3 Justice

Ministry of Municipal Affairs3 Municipal Affairs

Ministry of Restructuring and Government Efficiency3 Restructuring and 
Government Efficiency

Ministry of Seniors and Community Supports Seniors and Community Supports

Ministry of Solicitor General and Public Security
Solicitor General and 
Public Security

Ministry of Sustainable Resource Development Sustainable Resource Development

N.A. Properties (1994) Ltd. Finance

Natural Resources Conservation Board Sustainable Resource Development

Persons with Developmental Disabilities Community Boards: Seniors and Community Supports

Calgary Region Community Board

Central Region Community Board

Edmonton Region Community Board

Northeast Region Community Board

Northwest Region Community Board 

South Region Community Board

Persons with Developmental Disabilities Provincial Board Seniors and Community Supports

Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers Reserve Fund Finance

Safety Codes Council Municipal Affairs

Supplementary Retirement Plan Reserve Fund Finance

Victims of Crime Fund
Solicitor General and 
Public Security

Wild Rose Foundation Community Development
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Entities Not Included in the Consolidated Government Reporting Entity

Fund or Agency Ministry Annual Report

Alberta Foundation for Health Research Innovation and Science

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Innovation and Science

Alberta Heritage Foundation for Science and Engineering Research Innovation and Science

Alberta Teachers’ Retirement Fund Board Education

Improvement Districts’ Trust Account Municipal Affairs

Local Authorities Pension Plan Finance

Long-Term Disability Income Continuance Plan — Bargaining Unit Human Resources and Employment

Long-Term Disability Income Continuance Plan —  
Management, Opted Out and Excluded

Human Resources and Employment

Management Employees Pension Plan Finance

Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers Pension Plan Finance

Provincial Judges and Masters in Chambers (Unregistered) Pension Plan Finance

Public Service Management (Closed Membership) Pension Plan Finance

Public Service Pension Plan Finance

Special Areas Trust Account Municipal Affairs

Special Forces Pension Plan Finance

Supplementary Retirement Plan for Public Service Managers Finance

Workers’ Compensation Plan Human Resources and Employment
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Schools, Universities, Colleges and Hospitals Included in the Consolidated 
Government Reporting Entity on a Modified Equity Basis4

School Boards and Schools Ministry Annual Report

Almadina School Society Education

Aspen View Regional Division No. 19 Education

Aurora School Ltd. Education

Battle River Regional Division No. 31 Education

Black Gold Regional Division No. 18 Education

Boyle Street Education Centre Education

Buffalo Trail Public Schools Regional Division No. 28 Education

Calgary Arts Academy Society Education

Calgary Girls’ School Society Education

Calgary Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 1 Education

Calgary School District No. 19 Education

Calgary Science School Society Education

Canadian Rockies Regional Division No. 12 Education

CAPE-Centre for Academic and Personal Excellence Institute Education

Chinook’s Edge School Division No. 73 Education

Christ the Redeemer Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 3 Education

Clearview School Division No. 71 Education

East Central Alberta Catholic Separate Schools Regional Division No. 16 Education

East Central Francophone Education Region No. 3 Education

Edmonton Catholic Separate School District No. 7 Education

Edmonton School District No. 7 Education

Elk Island Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 41 Education

4 The Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants has issued standards that 
require controlled entities to be fully consolidated line-by-line. In a transitional period to March 31, 2008, the Ministry 
is permitted to use the modified equity method of accounting. Under the modified equity method, the controlled 
entities’ net assets and operating results would be included in one line on the Ministry’s consolidated statements of 
financial position and operations, respectively. The Ministry has not yet included the financial statements of these 
controlled entities. In the transitional period, the government will assess when and how to include these controlled 
entities in the Ministry’s consolidated financial statements. The financial results of these controlled entities are included 
in the consolidated financial statements of the Province of Alberta for the year ended March 31, 2006 on a modified 
equity basis.
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School Boards and Schools Ministry Annual Report

Elk Island Public Schools Regional Division No. 14 Education

Evergreen Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 2 Education

Foothills School Division No. 38 Education

Fort McMurray Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 32 Education

Fort McMurray School District No. 2833 Education

Fort Vermilion School Division No. 52 Education

Foundations for the Future Charter Academy Charter School Society Education

Golden Hills School Division No. 75 Education

Grande Prairie Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 28 Education

Grande Prairie Public School District No. 2357 Education

Grande Yellowhead Regional Division No. 35 Education

Grasslands Regional Division No. 6 Education

Greater North Central Francophone Education Region No. 2 Education

Greater Southern Public Francophone Education Region No. 4 Education

Greater Southern Separate Catholic Francophone Education Region No. 4 Education

Greater St. Albert Catholic Regional Division No. 29 Education

High Prairie School Division No. 48 Education

Holy Family Catholic Regional Division No. 37 Education

Holy Spirit Roman Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 4 Education

Horizon School Division No. 67 Education

Lakeland Roman Catholic Separate School District No. 150 Education

Lethbridge School District No. 51 Education

Living Waters Catholic Regional Division No. 42 Education

Livingstone Range School Division No. 68 Education

Medicine Hat Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 20 Education

Medicine Hat School District No. 76 Education

Moberly Hall School Society Education
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School Boards and Schools Ministry Annual Report

Mother Earth’s Children’s Charter School Society Education

New Horizons Charter School Society Education

Northern Gateway Regional Division No. 10 Education

Northern Lights School Division No. 69 Education

Northland School Division No. 61 Education

Northwest Francophone Education Region No. 1 Education

Palliser Regional Division No. 26 Education

Parkland School Division No. 70 Education

Peace River School Division No. 10 Education

Peace Wapiti School Division No. 76 Education

Pembina Hills Regional Division No. 7 Education

Prairie Land Regional Division No. 25 Education

Prairie Rose Regional Division No. 8 Education

Red Deer Catholic Regional Division No. 39 Education

Red Deer School District No. 104 Education

Rocky View School Division No. 41 Education

St. Albert Protestant Separate School District No. 6 Education

St. Paul Education Regional Division No. 1 Education

St. Thomas Aquinas Roman Catholic Separate Regional Division No. 38 Education

Sturgeon School Division No. 24 Education

Suzuki Charter School Society Education

Westmount Charter School Society Education

Westwind School Division No. 74 Education

Wetaskiwin Regional Division No. 11 Education

Wild Rose School Division No. 66 Education

Wolf Creek School Division No. 72 Education
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Universities Ministry Annual Report

Athabasca University Advanced Education

The University of Alberta Advanced Education

The University of Calgary Advanced Education

The University of Lethbridge Advanced Education

Colleges Ministry Annual Report

Alberta College of Art and Design Advanced Education

Bow Valley College Advanced Education

Grande Prairie Regional College Advanced Education

Grant MacEwan College Advanced Education

Keyano College Advanced Education

Lakeland College Advanced Education

Lethbridge Community College Advanced Education

Medicine Hat College Advanced Education

Mount Royal College Advanced Education

NorQuest College Advanced Education

Northern Lakes College Advanced Education

Olds College Advanced Education

Portage College Advanced Education

Red Deer College Advanced Education

4 The Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants has issued standards that 
require controlled entities to be fully consolidated line-by-line. In a transitional period to March 31, 2008, the Ministry 
is permitted to use the modified equity method of accounting. Under the modified equity method, the controlled 
entities’ net assets and operating results would be included in one line on the Ministry’s consolidated statements of 
financial position and operations, respectively. The Ministry has not yet included the financial statements of these 
controlled entities. In the transitional period, the government will assess when and how to include these controlled 
entities in the Ministry’s consolidated financial statements. The financial results of these controlled entities are included 
in the consolidated financial statements of the Province of Alberta for the year ended March 31, 2006 on a modified 
equity basis.
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Regional Health Authorities and Other Health Institutions Ministry Annual Report

Alberta Cancer Board Health and Wellness

Alberta Mental Health Board Health and Wellness

Aspen Regional Health Authority Health and Wellness

Calgary Health Region Health and Wellness

Chinook Regional Health Authority Health and Wellness

David Thompson Regional Health Authority Health and Wellness

East Central Health Health and Wellness

Northern Lights Health Region Health and Wellness

Peace Country Health Health and Wellness

Palliser Health Region Health and Wellness

Technical Institutes and The Banff Centre Ministry Annual Report

Northern Alberta Institute of Technology Advanced Education

Southern Alberta Institute of Technology Advanced Education

The Banff Centre for Continuing Education Advanced Education


